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Monday, January 24, 2011

--- On commencing at 9:30 a.m.

MS. SEBALJ:  Good morning, everyone.  My name is Kristi Sebalj.  I am Board counsel, and we are here for a technical conference for docket number EB-2010-0142, which is an application by Toronto Hydro-Electric System Limited for an order approving just and reasonable rates and other charges for electricity distribution to be effective May 1, 2011.

I will introduce the Board Staff team, some of whom may stay and some of whom may not.  It's Martin Davies, Ted Antonopoulos, Birgit Armstrong - I am looking around - David Richmond and Vince Cooney.

So our role here is just to organize the proceedings, and, obviously, as you have seen, Board Staff has asked technical conference questions to which we now have some written answers.

I will just set out a bit of the history and context for the purposes of the record.  So the Board issued a notice of application and hearing dated September 15th, 2010 in this matter.  On October 18th, 2010, Procedural Order No. 1 was issued, which established, among other items, the dates for interrogatories to be filed with the Board and responded to by Toronto Hydro.  It also sought submissions on a draft issues list.  That issues list was finalized in an issues list decision and procedural order dated November 11th, 2010.

On December 6th, 2010, Toronto Hydro filed its responses to interrogatories from the parties.

On December 13th, the Board issued Procedural Order No. 3 outlining further steps in this proceeding.  In particular, it set out the date for this technical conference today, January 24th, 2011, and a settlement conference, which is scheduled to start tomorrow.

There have been a number of other procedural orders and other documents from the Board in this matter, and I won't go through all of them, but I did want to mention one.  The other matter, of course, was a motion by the Smart Sub-Metering Working Group which was filed on January 14th, 2011, and the Board heard that motion and issued a decision and procedural order.  The date of that decision was January 21st, 2011.

The reason that I mention it is because in that decision, the Board made some pronouncements with respect to procedure and specifically said:
"Once Toronto Hydro has filed its assessment of the time required to fulfill parts 1 and 2 of the Board Order..."

Which is the Board's order in that decision:
"...the Board will issue a Procedural Order making any necessary revisions to the schedule for this proceeding to accommodate the additional process related to this matter.  All existing dates established in previous Procedural Orders remain in effect, except as regards the process related to Issues 7.2 and 7.3 for which further direction will be provided once the Board has received Toronto Hydro's assessment."


So I mention that only to highlight that there will be further procedural orders relating to, likely, a technical conference or interrogatories related to the further information that is ordered in that decision.

So with respect to today, I note of course, as with every technical conference, this is being transcribed.  Everything is on the record.  I would ask that you please speak clearly and loudly so that the court reporter can hear you.

In terms of the order of events, the applicant, Toronto Hydro, has provided written answers.  I can't speak to the sufficiency of the written answers, but there are written answers before us, which are marked as Exhibit S1, tab 1, schedule -- I am just going to see whether these things change.  Obviously the schedules change, but it is Exhibit S1.

The applicant has provided copies to I think everyone in the room, and we'll have to go through a decision-making process in a few minutes about how long the parties need to review that material and determine whether and to what extent they have any follow-up questions for the Toronto Hydro panel.

The only other thing I would note is, again, we do not have an adjudicative panel.  Although we do have someone at the dais, they are not the adjudicative panel.


[Laughter]

MS. SEBALJ:  Although I am sure they would love to have some decision-making power in the matter.  If there are any disputes with respect to the provision of information or the sufficiency of any information or any other matter, we will have to record -- attempt to work them out ourselves, record them on the record and seek further direction from a panel.

Unless there are any other questions, I understand that Toronto Hydro has some introductions to make, and I would ask that we register appearances, and then we will have a discussion, after Toronto Hydro does its introduction, about timing for the rest of the day.
Appearances:


MR. RODGER:  Good morning, Kristi.  Mark Rodger, counsel for Toronto Hydro-Electric System Limited, and with me on my right is my colleague, John Vellone, and to my left is Glen Winn of Toronto Hydro.  I will deal with the introductory matters after appearances.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Jay Shepherd, counsel for School Energy Coalition.  With me is Tom Adams.

MR. GIBBONS:  Jack Gibbons, Pollution Probe.

MR. FAYE:  Peter Faye for Energy Probe, and with me is David MacIntosh.

MR. CROCKER:  David Crocker for AMPCO, and with me is Shelley Grice.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Michael Buonaguro, counsel for VECC, and with me is Dr. Roger Higgin.

MR. AIKEN:  Randy Aiken, consultant for BOMA, and I am all alone.

MS. GIRVAN:  Julie Girvan, Consumers Council of Canada.

MR. AIKEN:  You are all alone, too.

MS. GIRVAN:  Yes, I am all alone, too.

MS. POWELL:  Shirley Powell, manager of HR planning systems and rewards from Toronto Hydro.

MR. COUILLARD:  J.S. Couillard, chief financial officer, Toronto Hydro.

MR. LABRICCIOSA:  Ivano Labricciosa, vice president of asset management, Toronto Hydro.

MR. HJARTARSON:  Thor Hjartarson, manager system reliability planning, Toronto Hydro.

MR. JAMAL:  Asheef Jamal, controller, Toronto Hydro.

MR. SARDANA:  Pankaj Sardana, VP, treasurer and regulatory affairs, Toronto Hydro.

MR. SEAL:  And Darryl Seal, manager of rates and treasury, Toronto Hydro.
Preliminary Matters:


MR. RODGER:  So, Kristi, as you noted at the outset earlier this morning, we have delivered a bundle of written answers to the technical conference questions that we got last week.

I am advised that written answers have been provided to all of the technical conference questions, with the exception of from BOMA, 10 and 13; from Schools, No. 9; from CCC, No. 15; for VECC, No. 9; and from Board Staff, 2(b) and 21.  And Energy Probe 46 to 56 are being printed.

And there was one other matter I wanted to address.  Mr. Shepherd had advised me over the weekend that one interrogatory response has not been provided yet.  This is School's interrogatory 37, part (d), and it had to do with presentations and reports to the board of directors dealing with the aging work force under policies.

The Toronto Hydro staff will review that and, if there is anything provided after lunch -- at this point we are not sure if there is anything further than the Toronto Hydro business plan, which has already been filed in confidence, but we will make enquiries over the morning and let you know on that.

The Energy Probe outstanding answers in technical questions are 56 to 66.  Those are the introductory matters, Kristi.

MS. SEBALJ:  Jay, I saw you reaching for your mic.  Did you have something to add?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, we can probably deal with that after lunch.  The response to the interrogatory that I was concerned with says that the material will be filed in confidence, so presumably there is some material and it just hasn't been filed yet.  So I am looking for not only having it filed so that I can ask follow-up questions on it, but also why wasn't it filed if the first place.  Thank you.

MS. GIRVAN:  Just a question mark.  You listed the ones that weren't filed and written.  What is the status of those?

MR. RODGER:  Julie, they're being worked on now, so our hope is that after lunch we will be able to deliver the outstanding ones.

MS. SEBALJ:  Okay.  Unless there are any other questions or any preliminary matters, I am hoping to canvass the group to determine -- I did a little informal canvassing earlier to determine how long we need - and I say "we" because it includes me - to review these, the package provided by Toronto Hydro and determine whether you have any follow-up questions.  And then I guess once you have done that, we will canvass how long we think -- how many questions or how long we think we will be beyond that.

But can I just get an idea from parties now?  I heard a figure bandied about of two hours.  Is that sufficient for everyone?

MR. GIBBONS:  I am ready to go.

MS. SEBALJ:  You're ready to go?

I was going to ask.  That was going to be my next question.  Is anybody ready to go right now?

MR. SHEPHERD:  I have two comments.  We're going to need at least more than two hours.  There's more than 100 pages of material, so we can't even read it in that period of time.

But in addition to that, I -- if other people are going to ask questions, then I can't be reading while they're asking questions, so we will need that after the questions asked by the people who go first.

MS. SEBALJ:  Julie?

MS. GIRVAN:  Yeah, just a little unclear on what the process is going to be.  So are we supposed to read  these --


MS. SEBALJ:  So am I.

MS. GIRVAN:  -- questions into the record?

MS. SEBALJ:  Oh, no.  No.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  So...

MS. SEBALJ:  We will need a day to do that.  My take on it was that to the extent -- these are now an exhibit of this proceeding, so they don't need to be read into the record because they're on the record.

And that to the extent that people had follow-up questions, they would just make sure to reference the question and perhaps give us a bit of a -- either read the question to which you have a follow-up or, if it is a very long question, give us a preamble so we know which one you're talking about as an audience, and then go from there.

If that is acceptable to people, I don't think it is realistic to even read all of the questions to which we have follow-up questions into the record.

I don't know if that is acceptable as a process, but in terms of your larger question of how we are going to proceed, I'm -- for purposes of a technical conference, I am sort of a party as you are.  So I understand Jay's point; I am going to want to listen, as well.

If there are people who are ready and don't want to stay beyond, I am happy to have you go ahead, ask your questions, and then we take our break to read the -- to read the -- to read the answers.

Is that acceptable to everyone?

Okay.  So why don't we go ahead on that basis, Mark, if your panel is ready?

MR. RODGER:  Yes.  We are ready, Kristi.
TORONTO HYDRO-ELECTRIC SYSTEM LIMITED - PANEL 1


Shirley Powell

J.S. Couillard

Ivano Labricciosa

Thor Hjartarson

Pankaj Sardana
Questions by Mr. Gibbons:


MR. GIBBONS:  Thank you.  So one of 9 issues that Pollution Probe wants to explore in this hearing is with respect to the variance account for distribution losses.  And at the moment, there is a variance account, so any variance between forecast and actual distribution losses are -- are passed on to the consumer.

We want to explore whether it would be appropriate to abolish that variance account so that Toronto Hydro has a greater financial incentive to reduce its distribution losses.

And we have raised this issue in a past proceeding, and at that time Toronto Hydro's opposed it, I guess, for a number of reasons, but one of the reasons was, well, that would impose too much risk on the return on equity of Toronto Hydro to eliminate this variance account.

So we want to be able to address that issue and see what level of risk the Board would be imposing on Toronto Hydro if it did accept our proposal.

So what we asked was for Toronto Hydro to give us the formula for this variance account and the actual amounts in this variance account for the last five years.  I mean, obviously if the amounts are trivial, the risk in terms of return on equity variance is low.

So we have asked this question.  We had follow-up questions.  And I look at the most recent response from Toronto Hydro, which was filed this morning.  It was in response to Pollution Probe Question 2, and the response is:

"Toronto Hydro continues to review these accounts and expects to have updated information for the oral phase."

Now, so the initial response was:  We don't even know what the formula is for the variance account, and we don't know what the amounts were for the last five years.

And this new response claims the same thing.  And I mean, this just baffles me.  I mean, like, over 20 years ago I used to work for this Board, and I used to go over in excruciating detail, I remember, variance accounts from Enbridge, and like, they knew all the amounts in their variance accounts.  They knew what the formulas was, and I just can't understand how Toronto Hydro wouldn't know what the formula is for this variance account and how much money has been in it for the last five years.

And you know, the new response is:  Well, we'll give this to you, Jack, by the time of the oral hearing, but we would like to try to settle this in the ADR and so we need it now.

So here I am.  I am many imploring you to give me this information.  And maybe if you can't, maybe my friends at Board Staff will be able to do it.

MR. SEAL:  Can you tell me what the question is, Jack?

MR. GIBBONS:  I am that inarticulate?

MR. SEAL:  Clearly, clearly.  What is the question you are asking?  Because I don't understand the exact question.

If the question is:  Can you give us this material?  The answer, we have given you the answer:  No, we cannot give you this material yet, because we are still reviewing it.

MR. GIBBONS:  But, sir -- explain to me, Darryl, why you don't have it yet.  I mean, like I can't believe it.  It seems so trivial.

MR. SEAL:  Well, the fact is we don't have, specifically, the numbers yet.  We are reviewing our processes for recording amounts into this account, and the staff that are doing this have been busy with year-end, month-end work, and we don't have an answer for you yet.  It is as simple as that.  I can't tell you any more than that.

MR. GIBBONS:  So I mean, you want me to bring a motion or something?

Well, Board Staff, you guys review all of these variance accounts.  Could you please tell me the formula that is used for the line losses, to calculate the line losses in your variance accounts for Toronto Hydro?  And can you tell me what the actual amounts have been for the last five years?

MS. SEBALJ:  We -- any work that we do with respect to Toronto is based on Toronto's evidence.  So if we don't have Toronto's evidence on the matter, we can't do the calculations.

MR. GIBBONS:  Well, no, I mean, so it may not have filed it for 2010 yet, but presumably they filed it for previous years and presumably they filed it pursuant to a formula established by the OEB.

And so I just think, like, you've got the records.  You must know what the formula is.  I certainly did when I worked for the OEB 20 years ago, with respect to Enbridge.

And if you could just give me the formula and tell me the amounts that have been in this variance account in the past?

MS. SEBALJ:  I guess I don't understand why we would be able -- this is a very awkward request, because the Board is not in the position of providing evidence on behalf of Toronto Hydro, and if it has been filed by Toronto Hydro in a RRR filing, then Toronto Hydro should be able to provide it.  In a previous year.

I mean, they're telling us they're reviewing currently, but surely anything that's been filed previously has been filed previously and therefore is a record which can be provided.  I don't understand why we would provide it, and not the applicant.

MR. GIBBONS:  Well, I don't care who provides it, just if someone can help me.  I mean, I'm not a lawyer; I am just looking for the information.

MR. RODGER:  Jack, I think you have heard that
we're -- Toronto Hydro is doing the best that it can to answer it.  As you will know, in this case, there has been thousands of interrogatories.  We have just filed, you know, over 100 pages this morning of answers.  I mean, the utility is doing its best to answer the questions that the parties have.

MS. SEBALJ:  Do we have any indication of timing with respect to when this can be provided?

MR. SEAL:  As I have said in my response, we will have it prior to the hearing, at the hearing.  That is the best timing I can give right now.

MS. SEBALJ:  So what you're essentially telling us is that there will be no opportunity to -- because you indicated in your question that you would like to discuss this in the ADR, so you're taking it off the table for purposes of the ADR.

MR. SEAL:  What I am saying is I will not have the information in time for ADR this week.  That is a fact.

MS. SEBALJ:  Can you address the idea that the Board would have this information but Toronto Hydro wouldn't?  It seems a bit odd, given that Toronto Hydro would have filed it with the Board.

MR. SEAL:  Maybe –- maybe I will just -- we have filed RRR filings, and we do have values that we have filed as part of our RRR filing.

What I have said in my answer is we're reviewing those accounts, and reviewing them to whether the values that we filed are the correct values or not.  That is what we are reviewing.

I could give you what we filed as part of our RRR filings; that's not a problem.

MR. GIBBONS:  What I want to know is what you filed, presumably being approved or blessed by this great Board, as what --


MR. SEAL:  They haven't been approved or blessed by the Board, because RSV accounts don't get reviewed by the Board for clearance purposes.  They get filed as part of our RRR.

MR. GIBBONS:  You presumably -- if the variances are greater than expected, somehow it goes into a variance account.  Somehow it is passed on to consumers and they are required to pay it.

Those are the amounts I'm looking for, the money that is passed on or returned to consumers, you know, like a -- for the last five years or something, what those values have been.

MR. SEAL:  The only clearance of this account was in our last filing, which was the global adjustment portion of the clearing of this account.

MR. SARDANA:  And, Jack, if you go back to our answer that we gave as part of R1, tab 8, schedule 2, that is clearly stated there.

MR. GIBBONS:  Look, I am just a simple guy.  You being regulated by the Ontario Energy Board, when did this start, in 1999?  Every year you have been able to pass these variances on.  So I guess we've at least a ten-year track record, approximately.

If you can just give me what those numbers have been for the last ten years?

MR. ANTONOPOULOS:  Jack, can I clarify?  What variances exactly are you looking for?  Are you looking for the total variance in the power account, or you are looking for just --


MR. GIBBONS:  I am looking with respect to losses for the distribution system.

MR. ANTONOPOULOS:  Because there are two or three different types of variances tracked in that account.  So you're asking the utility to tease out from those variances that that is attributable specifically to line losses?

MR. GIBBONS:  Right.

MR. ANTONOPOULOS:   Okay.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Can I ask a follow-up?  I don't have a particular interest in the issue.  What I am interested in, it appeared you said, Mr. Seal, was that not that you have people working on it, but, rather, that they're busy on other things and they haven't got to it yet.

I would have thought that given that the interrogatories were due quite some time ago, that it would be a relatively higher priority than that.  So I don't understand why -- like, I don't see how that is an answer to say, Sorry, we're too busy.

MR. SEAL:  We did respond to the interrogatory initially, and we responded to the technical conference questions.  What I said is --


MR. SHEPHERD:  You're saying you were looking at it; right?

MR. SEAL:  That is correct, and we do not have an answer yet.  It is more complicated than perhaps it seemed at the beginning.  I can't tell you more than I don't have an answer for it yet.

MR. SHEPHERD:  See, the problem I have with hearing it at the oral hearing is that then we don't have a discovery process like this one.  We lose that.

MR. SEAL:  I have responded in my interrogatory response with some information, but I don't have any more to give you.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.

MR. SEAL:  Jack, if you look at our initial response, we did actually give you an amount that was in that account.

MR. GIBBONS:  That was -- my recollection, it was about $5,000?

MR. SEAL:  $5,596.

MR. GIBBONS:  So is that the total variance for the line losses?

MR. SEAL:  That is what is booked in that variance account right now.  As I said, we're looking at what we booked in that account, how we booked into that account.  So that number may change, depending on what we find in our review.

MR. GIBBONS:  So that $5,000 variance, for what time period is that for?

MR. SEAL:  That is what is currently booked in that account right now.  My recollection is that that -- we last cleared the RSVA power in the previous filing, for our 2010 rates.

MR. GIBBONS:  Right.

MR. SEAL:  The biggest chunk of that, my recollection, was related to the global adjustment component of that account, of that RSVA account, and not the line loss component.

MR. GIBBONS:  Yes.  So this $5,000 you gave me in the response, that is just for line losses; am I correct?

MR. SEAL:  That's correct.  That's as of right now.

MR. GIBBONS:  So for what period is that for?

MR. SEAL:  I believe it is for at least a year, but it may are for longer.

MR. GIBBONS:  Okay.  So that is helpful, I mean, because if it just $5,000 for a period of a year or more, I mean, that's not a big exposure risk.  So I guess I am just wanting to now know -- that is very helpful.  I mean, I couldn't believe it was so low, $5,000, given what we're told in a previous hearing about this big risk to Toronto Hydro.

So I guess I am just also interested, then, for this historical information, so know that $5,000 is sort of representative and what it is likely to be in the future and there isn't something in the past four or five years that shows from one year it was actually $100 million or something.

But, I mean, you think the $5,000 per year is representative of what we're talking about?

MR. SEAL:  I can't answer that, because we are still trying to find the answer to these accounts.  That's what I'm trying to do.

MR. GIBBONS:  That is the information I am seeking.

MR. SEAL:  And I've said I am working on it.

MR. GIBBONS:  Right.

MS. SEBALJ:  Was that the extent of your questions, Jack, or did you have anything to follow up on or...

MR. GIBBONS:  I give up.  This is all I'm getting, I guess, so what can I do?

MS. SEBALJ:  What I was going to look into was when this was last cleared, and I wasn't on the rate case last year.  To the extent that an RSVA is cleared, if it was cleared in 2010, then it should only be a year's worth of exposure.

So I want to be helpful to you from the Board's perspective, but we are not equipped to tease out the line losses from the general RSVA account, certainly not better than Toronto Hydro could do it.

But I was interested to know when it was last cleared.  So if it was last cleared in the last rate case, then it would only be a year's worth of exposure, because RSVA's clearance is a final order of the Board.

MR. SEAL:  If it is at all helpful, when we come back after you have had a chance to review the other interrogatories, I can make enquiries as to when this account was last cleared and let you know that.

MR. GIBBONS:  Thank you.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Can I ask another follow-up question?

The entries in this account, are they entries that combine line losses with other things, or are the line loss entries separately made relative to the other items that are in the account?

MR. SEAL:  There are two components to this account.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

MR. SEAL:  One is related to line losses -- to losses.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

MR. SEAL:  The other is related to global adjustment.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I understand that.

MR. SEAL:  Those are two separate components of this account, but those are the parts of this account.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And they're separate entries?  They're calculated separately?

MR. SEAL:  They are separate entries within the sub-accounts.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So it is not a calculation for you to have to figure out how much of the money that is in it is line losses versus something else.  You can look at the entries for that purpose?

MR. SEAL:  They are separately accounted for, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  What you are looking at is those entries, how they were calculated, and that is what you're trying to figure out?

MR. SEAL:  That is correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Got it.

MS. SEBALJ:  Are there any other questions from either you, Jack, or anyone else in the room?  Does anyone else have anything that they want to ask before we break to do some reading?  Go ahead.  Sorry.

MR. FAYE:  Just a quick question.  Energy Probe has some outstanding questions here that I believe Mr. Rodger said they're attempting to file by after lunch.  I just wanted to make certain I heard that correctly.

The answers will be ready for after lunch for us to review, or do you think that some of them will lag further than that?

MR. RODGER:  I gather, Peter, they're being printed as we speak.  So someone will bring them to the room here as soon as they're done.

MR. FAYE:  Okay, thanks.

MS. SEBALJ:  Sorry, Mark, was that 46 to 56 are being printed, or 46 to 66 are being printed?

MR. RODGER:  Fifty-six to 66.

MS. SEBALJ:  Okay.  But you had mentioned 46 to 66.

MR. RODGER:  I think I just misspoke from my note here.  It's 56 to 66.

MS. SEBALJ:  Those are the only ones that are outstanding?

MR. RODGER:  Plus these ones; right?  Plus the other ones I mentioned at the outset.  There was a group of a few others.

MS. SEBALJ:  The other groups?

MR. RODGER:  Yes.

MS. SEBALJ:  Fair enough.  And those are going to be ready after lunch, as well, or we're not sure?

MR. RODGER:  I believe after lunch.

MS. SEBALJ:  All right.  Let's take a break until noon, it looks like.

MR. GIBBONS:  Kristi, can I ask a question?

MS. SEBALJ:  Yes.

MR. GIBBONS:  I have no desire to come for the rest of the technical conference, but I do want to be here for the start of the ADR.  I am just wondering, has a time been determined as to when the ADR is going to start?

MS. SEBALJ:  I believe it's 9:30 tomorrow morning.

MR. GIBBONS:  Okay.  So it is not starting today?

MS. SEBALJ:  It is not starting today.  I forgot about that e-mail, that's right.  So I just want to make sure Ken is available.  He is around and available to start?

So to the extent that Mr. Rosenberg is available, we can start later today.  I don't know how realistic that is, given that we are not even going to start follow-up questions until noon, and it is a very awkward time to be starting, because people will probably want to have lunch at noon.

So shall we reconvene at - I am in your hands - 12:30, 1:00?  What is a realistic time to start this?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Can I ask the company a question?  After lunch means when?  When do we expect to have the rest of the answers?

MR. RODGER:  Well, here's some new answers being delivered right now.  Are these the Energy Probe answers?  All right.  So those ten are out of the way.

So it is a matter of one, two, three, four, five, six, seven more answers.  When do you think, Glen -- can we say anything with more specificity than "after lunch"?

MR. WINN:  That is probably the best I could say right now.  I need to check with this --


MR. RODGER:  Okay.  So there's seven outstanding, and that's it.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I am wondering whether, if we say we will come back after lunch, we will have those at that time.  There is only a few of them; right?

Then we can start right -- relatively quickly after that.  Does that make sense?

MS. SEBALJ:  By that, you mean, what, Jay?  Is the 1:00 o'clock figure better?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Like 1:30 or –-

MS. SEBALJ:  Yeah.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But I -- that is why I am asking.  Can we be confident we will have them at 1:00 or 1:30?

MR. RODGER:  The latest we have heard is that it is after lunch, is what they're targeting for.  So I can't give you a definitive time right now, because we don't know.

But we're talking about seven outstanding interrogatories.  Surely we could start, and if we have to break later in the afternoon for people to read seven, we can do so.

MS. SEBALJ:  So I am still wondering a time so that people know when to -- can we be back earlier than -- can we say 1:00 instead of 1:30, just in case everybody is ready to go?  And hopefully everyone can read and eat and do whatever they need to do before 1:00.

Is that agreeable?

MR. RODGER:  Yes.

MS. SEBALJ:  Okay.  Thank you.

MR. GIBBONS:  The ADR is starting tomorrow.

MS. SEBALJ:  I think realistically there was provision for potentially starting today, but realistically I think the ADR --


MS. GIRVAN:  Can we make a decision on that now?

MS. SEBALJ:  Sure.

MR. SARDANA:  If it is helpful at all, Kristi, we are ready to start today, late in the afternoon.  We can limit it to a highlights presentation that might just give you some context, and then we can get into the substance of the matter tomorrow, if that is helpful.

MS. SEBALJ:  Okay.

MR. SARDANA:  Obviously, it would depend on if Mr. Rosenberg is available.

MS. SEBALJ:  I think he is making himself available.

Jack, would you be willing to come back if I just took down your phone number and --


MR. GIBBONS:  Yeah.  So you could call –-

MS. SEBALJ:  -- gave you an idea?  Sure.

MR. GIBBONS:  Yeah, I just don't want to wait around.

MS. SEBALJ:  Let's do it on that basis.  If any other party wants to leave, we can do it on that basis.

All right.  Thanks everyone.  See you at 1:00.

--- Recess taken at 10:02 a.m.

--- On resuming at 1:05 p.m.

MS. SEBALJ:  Good afternoon, everyone.  I guess we should get started.  I will turn it over to Toronto Hydro first to see if there is anything preliminary, any additional filings or material you would like to provide.
Preliminary Matters:


MR. RODGER:  Thanks, Kristi.

So we do have some additional answers to technical conference questions and we will hand these out now.

These are School's question 9, VECC question 9, BOMA question 13, BOMA question 10, and Board Staff 21.

So I believe that only leaves Board Staff question 2(b).  And also during the break Jay had raised interrogatory response, his 37(d), that hadn't been responded to.  That has now been responded to.  So I think there is only this one outstanding for Board Staff, and that's it.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, is that e-mail your response?

MR. RODGER:  Well, in the e-mail I said that a formal response would be coming shortly thereafter.  So, yes, you will get a separate one.

And there is one outstanding for CCC 15 and that should be later this afternoon.  I think that is it, Kristi.

MS. SEBALJ:  Mr. Davies is just reminding me that I am not sure that Board Staff received an answer to 2(a).  I think you indicated that 2(b) was part of the -- or was outstanding  I assume you meant 2(a) and 2(b)?

MR. RODGER:  That's right, I gather it is 2(a) and 2(b).

MS. SEBALJ:  Thank you.  All right, with that, I assume everyone has had an opportunity to review their and others' material.

Is there -- shall we draw straws to see who is going first, or is there anyone who wants to go ahead?  Julie.
Questions by Ms. Girvan:

MS. GIRVAN:  Thanks.  This will just take a minute, I think.

So one of the things that we were looking for, and it is in several of our questions -- and I am going to say it is in question 1, 2, 6, 8 and 10.  And, typically, when we're evaluating the evidence, we like to see what the utility forecast in a given year and what the actuals were in a given year.

So I believe Toronto Hydro has told me that they will update those, CCC 1, 2, 6, 8 and 10, in order to provide that information.  Is that okay?

So, for example, in 2009, I think I would like to see what your forecast was in those particular areas and what your actual amounts were, and 2008 and 2010.

MR. SARDANA:  Sorry, Julie, I am just looking to my colleague, Asheef, to see if --


MR. WINN:  We have the 2009 and the 2010 bridge numbers.

MS. GIRVAN:  What about 2008 forecast versus actual in those areas?

MR. WINN:  There was no 2008 bridge numbers in those areas.

MR. SARDANA:  If you remember, we were on IRM in 2007.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.

MR. SARDANA:  So when we went into the -- we filed a multi-year application for 2008, 2009 and 2010.  There was no bridge.

MS. GIRVAN:  No.  No.  I guess I'm getting a little bit confused when you say "bridge".  What I'm looking for is in, for example, 2008, you had a forecast, okay, that you had in your application for those specific areas.  So say it is other revenues.

And then you had actual other revenues in 2008, and that is what I would like to see, is a comparison of those amounts.

MR. WINN:  So if I understand you, Julie, that is the 2007 bridge number you are looking for for those notes; is that correct?

MS. GIRVAN:  It confuses me when you say "bridge".  I am looking at what was your 2008 forecast and what was your 2008 actual in those various areas.  And to the extent you have the numbers for -- you say you don't have them for 2009, and then you have them again for 2010; right?

MR. COUILLARD:  Maybe I can take a stab at it, because I don't think it is that complicated.  So what you would like to see - correct me if I'm wrong - is what we were asking for -- for example, what did we -- what we asked for when we filed, for example, for 2008 or what the decision was versus what we actually spent.

MS. GIRVAN:  Yes.

MR. COUILLARD:  Okay.  You want that, so for 2008, 2009 and for 2010, and I think what we had said earlier today for 2010 is that it would be an estimate of what we believe, especially at a high level, on some of those metrics.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay, that is helpful, yes.

MR. COUILLARD:  Is that what -- we can work with that.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay, thank you.  That is really what I was looking for.  Those are all of my questions.

MS. SEBALJ:  I assume we're doing this by way of undertaking; is that what I am understanding?

MR. COUILLARD:  I have to.

MS. SEBALJ:  So let's mark that as J1.1 -- pardon?

MR. RODGER:  Just to be clear, Kristi --


MS. SEBALJ:  JT, sorry, so that we can distinguish from any undertakings.

MS. GIRVAN:  Would it not be easier to re-answer those questions, because otherwise now we have three series of questions?  So we have the original interrogatory, we have the additional technical conference question that has been answered, and then we're going to have an update to that technical conference question.

I am not saying how you should do your filing system, but it just might be easier for them to -- for instance, question 1, which refers to CCC 7, ask for the other revenue, the forecast numbers for 2008, 2009, 2010.  So you could do an update to that versus filing yet another document under a different number.

MR. RODGER:  I guess to also clarify the forecast, because it has been used different ways, I understand, J.S., your answer was what you're comparing is what the Board actually decided in 2008 and 2009 versus what you actually ended up spending?

MS. GIRVAN:  No.  It is what you applied for.

MR. RODGER:  That was different than what J.S. has just said, then.

MR. COUILLARD:  What I have applied for, if, for example, the Board reduced OM&A by $10 million, well, it is kind of my new target now is reduced by $10 million.  So you are not going to see -- we're not going to spend what we've asked for if we don't get it.

MS. GIRVAN:  I realize that, but we will work through that in terms of -- to us, it is a tool that we use --


MR. COUILLARD:  Not a problem.  We will put whatever we have asked for all of those different years, and then we will compare it and we will put a little column on the side to say actual.

MS. GIRVAN:  That is really helpful.  Thank you.

MR. COUILLARD:  Would it be better to have three columns and have, like, this is what we asked for, this is what we got, and this is what we spent?

MS. GIRVAN:  Sure, if you are prepared to do that.

MR. COUILLARD:  I should stop now, because some people are going to start shooting at me and try to wonder what side of the table I am on.

[Laughter]

MS. SEBALJ:  For purposes of just tracking this, and on the assumption there may be a few other requests of this nature, I think we should call it JT1.1.  Otherwise, if we just have buried in the record somewhere that there is a request for further and better responses to 1, 2, 6 and 8 and 10 of CCC, we may lose it.

MS. GIRVAN:  Someone suggested to me that you do it as an undertaking to go back and revise those answers.

MS. SEBALJ:  Yes, exactly.  So JT1.1 would be -- and, Julie or Mark, you can correct me, but it is to go back to technical conference questions 1, 2, 6, 8 and 10 filed by the Consumers Council of Canada and provide a table with forecast, actual -- sorry, forecast, granted in the application, and actual expenditures or numbers in those five areas.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.1:  TO PROVIDE TABLE IN RESPONSE TO CCC TECHNICAL CONFERENCE QUESTIONS 1, 2, 6, 8 AND 10 WITH FORECAST, GRANTED IN THE APPLICATION AND ACTUAL NUMBERS.

MS. SEBALJ:  Thank you.  Is that it from --


MS. GIRVAN:  Mm-hmm.

MS. SEBALJ:  Okay.  Any other volunteers to start the next?  Sure.  Go ahead, Peter.
Questions by Mr. Faye:


MR. FAYE:  Is that on, Teresa?

We just have a whole lot of clarification questions here.

The first one is Exhibit S1-5-1, and it relates to Energy Probe IR 5.  Have you got that up?

The bottom of page 1 of that response mentions subject matter experts.  And I wonder if you could just tell me who within your company is considered the subject matter experts referenced here; not names, but positions.

MR. LABRICCIOSA:  The subject matter experts are all of our project engineers working on the reliability file.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  Then if we go over to page 3, we asked you to give us the mathematical formulation for the hazard rate distribution function, and you have done that.

And it appears to rely on two factors, alpha and beta, that are shape and scale respectively, and their factor in the function.  And when we go over to the bottom of page 4, there is a bit of a discourse at line 17 about what these factors -- what they are.  And they're assigned numerical values.

But I would first like to ask you about the way they're determined.  It says they're developed through the assistance of asset life studies.  That sounds a lot like the sort of studies that underlie the health index.

Am I right there?  Are they somewhat the same thing?

MR. LABRICCIOSA:  There is a combination of sort of external studies that are referenced or used to sort of develop the asset life studies, one of which you noted is condition health indexing as part of the health indexing process.  The other is the failure curves and other, I guess, industry-referenced documents that can contribute to the life of an asset.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  So then these wouldn't be developed through some database of your own asset failures over the years?  This is something more generic than that?

MR. LABRICCIOSA:  It is, but there are correlations between the two.  I wouldn't like to say that, explicitly, they come out of our own data.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  All right.  Then looking at the curve on page 5, the probability of failure is a function of the asset health index, and I think I heard you sort of comment that the asset health index is somewhat based on the asset life studies.

If I look back at the mathematical formulation, could I assume that the term in the numerator of the second term of the function, HI, health index -- could you express that as a function of alpha and beta?

MR. LABRICCIOSA:  Sure, you could rearrange the formula mathematically and make it dependent, or as one of the outputs of the alpha and beta.

MR. FAYE:  So we could reduce this formula to just a function of alpha and beta, then?

MR. LABRICCIOSA:  Well, I don't think you can eliminate the function.  I don't think you can eliminate the health index out of that and still keep it correct.  The health index is a factor of that equation.

MR. FAYE:  And it is not solely dependent upon alpha and beta?  There is some other, like, gamma, if you added a gamma in there to take up the parts that alpha and beta don't take up?

I am just trying to see if there is a dependency between these variables so I can, you know, look at the graph in a half-assed intelligent way.

MR. LABRICCIOSA:  Well --


MR. FAYE:  Excuse me for that language there.

MR. LABRICCIOSA:  I mean, you could say that.  That is one way to look at it, to see which is the more dominant variable.  But I think the output of what we're trying to demonstrate is the probability of failure is dependent on three factors: the health index, the alpha and the beta, so the scale and the translation and shape of the curve.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  I think that gives me a good enough understanding there.

The next one is S1-5-2, relating to Energy Probe 8.  And here in our part (b), we asked if you had any specific goals that you wanted to achieve in your reliability indices.  And the answer is sort of a generic:  Yeah, we would like to improve it.

I think what we're looking for is do you have a target number there?

MR. LABRICCIOSA:  We don't -- we don't have a target specifically that we're trying to achieve.  At this stage, we're just trying to hold our own and make the trend go in the right direction, at this stage.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  The next one is S1-5-5, and this relates to the customer hours interrupted.

We asked for an example of a vehicle incident that would clarify how this stuff is done.  So you have given us a customer hours interrupted for some vehicles collisions with, in the first case, a pole.

And this answer seems to indicate that the time, the duration of the outage is an important factor.  It starts at 7:04 and ends at 10:58, and from using that duration times some number of customers, you come up with this CHI.

Have I got that right?

MR. LABRICCIOSA:  That's correct.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  And I guess what I want to ask is:  Does your system tabulate the customers by line section?  Or have you used some estimate of customers on a transformer basis, something like that?

MR. LABRICCIOSA:  It depends how complex the area is.  In some cases, when you deal with a commercial-industrial area, it is easy to count them up one at a time.  There might be a dozen customers off a feeder, taking on the load.

So that would be an easy, you know, one-to-one count for segments.

In other areas, when you are dealing with some feeders that supply 2- to 3,000 customers, there are some generic estimates that are used for segments and load.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  The next one is S1-5-7, and this concerns the tree-trimming program.

And we were asking about any studies that you had to support increased tree trimming.  And you have mentioned a service of Davies Consulting Inc., and I wonder are they related in any way to Davey Tree, the arborists who actually do the work?

MR. LABRICCIOSA:  No.  It is just coincident that seems to be the same name.

MR. FAYE:  Okay. It's a coincidence.

At the bottom of that page 1, there is some parameters that are used to come up with the model, and it looks like the outcome of that model could go in either direction, i.e., it could result in a shorter trimming cycle or it could result in a longer trimming cycle; is that correct?

MR. LABRICCIOSA:  That's correct.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  The next one is S1-5-8, and this one is the feeder investment model.  It relates to Energy Probe 15.

We asked here how the customer interruption cost is calculated in the model, and asked for an example.  You have given us an example.

And the question I have is that it seems to me elsewhere in the evidence that your distribution transformers are a run-to-failure asset, and I am wondering whether, you know, this is just a hypothetical example you have used for convenience or whether you actually do calculate the cost of distribution transformer interruptions.

[Witness panel confers]

MR. LABRICCIOSA:  Yes.  The example we gave is a generic example, as you mentioned.

There are some transformers, depending on the size, we run to failure.  Others that are large enough are not run to failure.  We try to establish a cost consequence of that outage.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  Thanks.

Next question is on S1-5-10.  This is about increased supply chain costs, and the response is that the reason costs are going up is because you have an afternoon shift in the warehouse now, because previously I guess there was -- there must have been some sort of on-call system for warehousemen; is that correct?

MR. LABRICCIOSA:  That's correct.  Previous to the shift there was an on-call process that we used.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  So line crews trying to respond to an outage might be standing there waiting for a warehouseman to come in and give them repair materials?

MR. LABRICCIOSA:  In some cases, yes.  In other cases, they're either -- getting the materials from a stored location themselves.

MR. FAYE:  The next one is S1-5-11, and it is what somewhat related.  It was the overhead rate increase, that sort of premium put on warehouse issuance to recover the costs of the warehouse operation.

The response here is similar to the previous one, in that an afternoon shift is being implemented and it costs money.

I just wonder, is that the sole or primary reason for the increase in the overhead rate, or are there other reasons there that I should know about?

MR. LABRICCIOSA:  That is the majority it in terms of the overall cost increases.  There are things we recover out of the warehouse operation, like space, that get factored into the overhead.  So they're sort of external drivers, like the cost of maintaining that space, which can be attributed to other costs from a warehousing operation.

But the predominant one is the shift.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  How many do you have on your afternoon shift in warehousing?  How many people are on that?

MR. LABRICCIOSA:  Well, we went from zero to six.

MR. FAYE:  Six, okay.

The next question is on S1-5-13.  This one was asking you, in our IR 24, about THESL compensation plans, and the response you gave us was that the material we requested can't be disclosed, because it would reveal data about other survey participants.

So we asked you in this follow-up that -- could we at least have a summary that didn't identify data by participant.

And the response to that seems to be, well, there is no benchmarking survey.  So I am wondering -- in the first case, you said it can't be disclosed because it is confidential and in the second it seems to me like there is none to disclose, anyway.  I am wondering, which one of those should I be relying on?

MS. POWELL:  We are not planning to participate in the formal benchmarking survey.  We do do an informal benchmarking on an annual basis where we participate in a number of salary surveys.

MR. FAYE:  And are those presented to you in such a format that they can't be released because of confidentiality of the participants?

MS. POWELL:  We do sign a confidentiality agreement with the survey provider to not disclose the data.

MR. FAYE:  So when I look at your response to AMPCO 9, that Mercer study from 2007, that looked like a compensation study to me, the sort of thing I was asking about here.

Is that what you're talking about, that benchmarking, or is there some other benchmarking stuff going on?

MS. POWELL:  Well, the survey that you're referring to was a formal benchmarking survey that we contracted Mercer to provide for us.  We haven't engaged with them since 2007 for another formal benchmarking survey.  However, on an annual basis we do conduct an informal one on our own where we purchase surveys.

MR. FAYE:  And is this about outside organizations, or is it Ontario utilities that you are using in that survey?

MS. POWELL:  It is both.  There is a slice for utilities, national utilities, of which there are some Ontario utilities that participate, and there are national companies, as well.

MR. FAYE:  And those companies are identified in that survey, or are they a summary?

MS. POWELL:  They are identified as participants.

MR. FAYE:  But you don't get data by company, do you?

MS. POWELL:  No.  We are getting aggregate data.

MR. FAYE:  So you agree not to release this.  Is this because of commercial value of the thing that your survey company doesn't want you spreading it around, or is it because it is confidential?

MS. POWELL:  Well, it is both.  We purchase the survey, and in agreement for purchasing the survey, we are not allowed to release the data or share the data with other companies.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  I guess what I am looking for is some sort of a summary saying, Here is where Toronto Hydro stands in relation to overall compensation.  It needn't have any detail that would be able to identify a company.  Would your survey provider agree to an executive summary, one page, telling us how you stand on that?

[Witness panel confers]


MS. POWELL:  We don't have an executive summary, but we can certainly see if we can get something from them.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  Could you do that with an undertaking, just a one-pager, even half a page, whatever it takes, just to give us a clue as to where Toronto Hydro stands against its peers?

MS. POWELL:  Hmm-hmm, certainly.

MS. SEBALJ:  We will mark that as JT1.2.

MR. FAYE:  Is that an adequate enough description?

MS. SEBALJ:  I was just going to ask you.  I am not sure which one we're talking about now.  This is basically a form of summary or disaggregation of material from a Mercer study?  Is it a Mercer study we are looking for?  Who is the provider?

MR. FAYE:  They said the Mercer study was a formal study and they have provided that.

MS. SEBALJ:  Exactly.  So who is the provider of this study?

MR. FAYE:  These ones are annual informal benchmarking studies that they contract out, and what we're asking for is a summary of how Toronto Hydro compensation compares with the comparators in that informal study.

MS. SEBALJ:  On a no-names basis?

MR. FAYE:  No names, yes.

MS. SEBALJ:  And we don't want to indicate any undertaking from whom that study is --


MR. FAYE:  I understand Toronto Hydro will probably type up their own executive summary of the thing and make sure their provider agrees it can be released.  Is that about how you would do it?

MS. POWELL:  Yes.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.2:  TO PROVIDE SUMMARY OF HOW TORONTO HYDRO COMPENSATION COMPARES WITH THE COMPARATORS IN ANNUAL INFORMAL BENCHMARKING STUDIES THAT TORONTO HYDRO CONTRACTS OUT.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  The next question is on S1-5-14.

This one had to do with a CCC IR, their No. 10, about how the costs of the CEO's office was allocated, and we asked you to break it down as to how it was allocated to Toronto Hydro and its affiliates.

The answer in part (b) towards the bottom there looks like 0.71 million went to THESL, and 0.37 million went to THC and nothing went to TH Energy, but there seems to be about half-a million dollars missing there.

Have I missed something?  I have added 0.71 and 0.37 and I got 1.08 million, but the total cost was 1.58.  I am wondering, where did the other $500,000 go?

MR. COUILLARD:  Mr. Faye, it is likely it stays in THC, but we will take an undertaking and just clarify that.

MR. FAYE:  Okay, thanks.

MS. SEBALJ:  We will mark that as JT1.3, and it is to provide further information with respect to Energy Probe Research Foundation 59(b) with respect to the 5 million that appears to be unaccounted for in that answer -- 500 million.  500,000, sorry.  $500 million.

[Laughter]

UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.3:  TO PROVIDE FURTHER INFORMATION WITH RESPECT TO ENERGY PROBE RESEARCH FOUNDATION 59(B) WITH RESPECT TO $500,000 THAT APPEARS TO BE UNACCOUNTED FOR IN THE ANSWER.

MR. SARDANA:  We are not Hydro One.

MR. FAYE:  Next one is S1-5-15.  This one is another CCC IR, No. 15, and it concerns the fleet and equipment services budget.  And in this budget, the occupancy charge went up by 56 percent in 2010.  The explanation is that there was an error in 2009 on the square footage that that group was using, and, since that's been corrected, the square footage has gone up considerably, and, therefore, the cost allocation has gone up correspondingly.

And the only question I have is:  Did the cost allocation go down correspondingly for other departments?  Is this a zero-sum thing here?  Or did overall occupancy costs go up?

MR. LABRICCIOSA:  Yes, you've got that correct.  It is a zero-sum game at some point.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  Thanks.  Next one is S1-5-17, and this one is -- this one and the next few are all follow-up questions to Board Staff 41.

And it references a website of an organization with the acronym E-L-U-T-A, ELUTA, that appears to put information on the web about the competitive compensation and benefits of companies, with the objective of, I guess, educating potential applicants for jobs there.

And so we read through that, and there were a number of things that jumped out that I wasn't familiar with.  One was project completion bonus, that they mentioned Toronto Hydro offered to its employees, and your answer was:  Well, we don't do that.  We don't have any project completion bonus.

So I wonder if you know how did ELUTA come up with this thing if Toronto Hydro never had it?

MS. POWELL:  The website -- actually the organization ELUTA has used their own editorial licence to interpret the application that we had submitted.

We do have bonuses that we pay for our employees, and so I think they interpreted that that when people successfully complete projects that are tied to bonuses, they are provided a project completion bonus.

MR. FAYE:  But your bonus system is what, then?

MS. POWELL:  It is an annual incentive program that is based on performance.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  And you have described that elsewhere in the evidence.  That's fine.

MS. POWELL:  Yes.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  The next one is S1-5-19, same sort of thing.

They said that you paid employees to take time off and volunteer with their favourite charity.  You say:  No, we don't.

Again, do you know where ELUTA would have got the idea that you did that?

MS. POWELL:  The -- we do have employees who participate on their own time, so volunteer time.  We have weekend events where they assist with various charities like United Way.

I am assuming that, again, that their interpretation was that we provided them with paid time off to volunteer.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  The last one is S1-5-20, another similar question.

On the ELUTA site, they suggested that there were company-sponsored social events.  You say:  No, there isn't.

I am a little surprised.  I thought most companies did sponsor a Christmas party of sorts for their employees, but your response seems to indicate you don't sponsor anything at all.  Is -– is that right?

MR. COUILLARD:  Depends on the definition of sponsorship, I guess.  We do have a children Christmas party, the company, that costs approximately $50,000.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.

MR. COUILLARD:  For the overall company.  Other than that, there is also -- sometimes the company on weekends, there is five or six events throughout the year, charity-related.  Like, we do planting trees on weekends with employees, where Toronto Hydro participates and will buy T-shirts for employees or things like that.

I mean, as far as dollar in nature, I would be happy to, you know, provide an undertaking, but this is fairly immaterial in the whole scheme of things.

MR. FAYE:  It sounds immaterial.  Okay.  That's fine.  Thanks very much.

MR. CROCKER:  I have one question that I can ask.  It is Crocker, behind the post.
Questions by Mr. Crocker:


MR. CROCKER:  It is BOMA's first question, so it is S1, tab 3, schedule 1.  The answer is at appendix A.

The question is:

"Please provide the number of customers at the end of each month from January 2009 through to the most recent month available along with the forecast for each of the remaining months in 2010-2011 for each of these rate classes."

If you go to the large-user rate class, up until beginning January 2009 up until May -- sorry, June 2010 there are 47 members of that class.  And then there are one, two, three, four, five months where the number drops to 46, and then one month where it goes up to 50.

I wondered whether you could tell me why the numbers change, and if possible, who or what companies have dropped of and what companies have been added, or what users have been added.

MR. SEAL:  My understanding of what happened, the drop in customers, was the customer got reclassified to a different customer class, going from the 47 to the 46.

And then likewise, the jump to 50 in December was because of a reclassification of customers from another customer class.

MR. CROCKER:  Then --


MR. SEAL:  I don't think I am going to identify those customers.

MR. CROCKER:  You're not going to?

MR. SEAL:  Specifically.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  I kind of thought you might not.

And then why does it go back down in January '11 to 47?

MR. SEAL:  That is our forecasted number that we provided.  The question asked for the forecasted, so those are the numbers we forecast back when we put together the forecast.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  Why wouldn't you have forecast 50?  When was the forecast done?

MR. SEAL:  Approximately mid-2006 -- sorry, 2010.  I forecast well in advance.  Mid-2010.

[Laughter.]

MR. CROCKER:  It would be when the number in the class was 47?

MR. SEAL:  Around 47, exactly.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  Thanks.

MS. SEBALJ:  I cannot -- there we go.  I couldn't get my mic on.

Sure.  Michael?
Questions by Mr. Buonaguro:

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thanks.  Michael Buonaguro for the Vulnerable Energy Consumers Coalition.

I have two questions or two types of questions coming from our technical conference questions.  I am going to start with question 1, which is Exhibit R1, tab 8, schedule 1.  And the question there was:

"THESL declined to update appendix A for year-to-date 2010 headcount and compensation.  Now that 2010 is over, provide an update for 2010 data in the form of either a revised schedule or a variance report."

And this was provided at appendix A to schedule 1, tab 8, schedule 1.  I just wanted to ask a couple of confirming questions.

First, the question, we used the word "headcount" but I believe the original appendix was actual FTEs, and if you look it at this answer, it talks about number of employees and then in brackets, FTEs including part-time.

So I just wanted to confirm that although we asked for headcount, I think the original evidence and these answers are all in FTEs; is that correct?

MS. POWELL:  Correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Thank you.  So if we were -- I am not asking, but if we were to do headcount, headcount would be something completely different?  You would have to pick a headcount on a particular day, for example?

MS. POWELL:  Correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  But we are not talking about that.  Thank you.

Then on column 5, which is, I believe, the updated part of the table at appendix A, where it says "2010 Historical Actual", I know that throughout some of our other IRs -– sorry, throughout some of our other technical conference questions, that it was said that 2010 actuals aren't available or at least not to a degree that they're -– they're not available now, or at least to be produced on the record.

Perhaps you could -- I just wanted to confirm what is meant by "2010 Historical Actual" in this particular table.

MR. COUILLARD:  Go ahead, Mr. Buonaguro.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Well, for example, I think sometimes when we ask for 2010 actual, we might get a number that is actuals up to September of 2010 and then the rest would be forecast, for example.  That would be one type of report we might get.

I just want to confirm what this is.  Is this actual 2010, full stop?  Or is there some level of estimating in here?

And depending on the answer, I wanted to know how this is different than other areas where we asked for 2010 actuals and they're not available.

MR. COUILLARD:  We'll have to get back to you.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.

MR. COUILLARD:  We'll be very quick, but I just need to consult with someone.  I kind of think I know the answer, but I just want to know what the assumption is underlying it, so --


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So I don't know if we need a --


MR. COUILLARD:  After the break.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So I will make a note with a borrowed pen to re-ask.  Thank you.

And then second -- and this is technical conference Question No. 5 from us, so that is Exhibit S1, tab 8, schedule 5  We asked:
"Please provide a comparison of forecast and Actual Other revenue for 2010.  Please discuss the implications for the 2011 forecast."


Then the response was:
"The latest 2010 forecast prepared by THESL is reflected in the bridge year amounts in the 2011 application."

Which doesn't strictly answer at least part of the question, which was implicitly asking for the actual other revenue for 2010.  Did you respond to that request?

MR. COUILLARD:  We haven't finalized our audit numbers, so the actual numbers for 2010 aren't available yet.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay, thank you.  Just lastly, we have obviously the paper copies of these responses handed out today.  I am assuming that the electronic versions will be distributed shortly?  I ask because I have two consultants who are going to be -- are waiting for the PDF versions, not that we need it this second, but I just wanted to confirm that.

MR. COUILLARD:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes.  Thank you.  Those are our questions.

MS. SEBALJ:  Thank you.  Randy, did you have any?

MR. AIKEN:  No.

MS. SEBALJ:  Okay.  Jay, are you ready, or did you want us to go?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Randy, you have none?

MR. AIKEN:  No, I have none.
Questions by Mr. Shepherd:

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  I guess it is up to me, then.  Well, I have lots.  So let me -- I have multiple piles here, so let me start by following up with some of the ones -- some of the follow-ups that have been asked.

So Energy Probe 18 -- sorry, Energy Probe 10 relates to the afternoon shift, do you recall that - and I am just finding it here - and its impact on certain other costs, like supply chain costs.  And then, again, you have in number 11 an impact on overhead rates.

So that is six people that you put on an afternoon shift; right?

MR. LABRICCIOSA:  It's an estimate.  That's correct, we added heads.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, so I don't understand.  Is it six people?

MR. LABRICCIOSA:  Well, we started with zero, and throughout that shift they came in increments of two throughout the last part of the year.

I am estimating at six.  I don't know the physical count, but if you want me to be accurate, I guess we will have to take that undertaking and figure it out.

MR. SHEPHERD:  For the test year, it is six throughout the year?

MR. LABRICCIOSA:  I don't know if it is six exactly, but it is -- I am assuming it is six that we ended up with, but I need to double-check that, subject to check, I guess.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It couldn't be a lot different than that?

MR. LABRICCIOSA:  No, no.  It is in that single-digit range.  It could be five.  It could be seven.  I am thinking it is six.

MR. SHEPHERD:  We're close.  Do you know how much that costs to add that shift?

MR. LABRICCIOSA:  No.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Presumably when you decided to add the shift, you sat down and figured out, Well, how much does it cost us to do this?  So you must have an idea of how much it is?

MR. LABRICCIOSA:  Yes.  Again, subject to check, we can pull those numbers together, but...

MR. SHEPHERD:  Then the other side is one of the reasons you do that is to save money, right, because you've got crews waiting around to do emergency and reactive work, and they can't get their materials, or, alternatively, they have to go get them themselves and it costs you money.  So there is savings on that side; right?

MR. LABRICCIOSA:  There can be, but that may not be the only driver.  Service is a driver, as well.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Presumably when you decided to add the shift, you looked at what the cost was going to be and what the savings were going to be; right?

MR. LABRICCIOSA:  We looked at the costs at some stage, I'm sure, in terms of trying to finalize or quantify it.  When you do put on an afternoon shift, you do need a coverage element for safety.  You can't have people working in buildings alone, so you have to have a certain quantity of people covering that shift.

MR. SHEPHERD:  No, no.  Sorry, I am not challenging the cost right now.  I am trying to find out what it is and whether you considered the savings side, as well.

MR. LABRICCIOSA:  We do consider the dollar side for sure, but I was trying to bring in the elements of safety which factor into the decision, as well as service.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So I would like an undertaking, then.  Could you find out how much in the test year this additional shift is going to cost?

MR. LABRICCIOSA:  Sure.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And what savings are built into the application as a result of this?  If there is actually a document that you did - presumably somebody internally said, Here's our justification for this new shift - can we have that document, please?

MR. LABRICCIOSA:  I am trying to get a sense for -- the question that was asked here was answered, and I think we're going beyond the question at this stage.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's fine.  I am allowed to do that.

MR. LABRICCIOSA:  I guess I am looking at process to see how far along do we go with the response.


The question is answered as per the request; right?

MR. SHEPHERD:  If you are going to refuse, please just do it on the record.

MR. LABRICCIOSA:  I am not refusing.  I guess I am looking at process and saying you are going outside the bounds of the question itself.

MR. SHEPHERD:  No, I'm not.  You disclosed that you added an afternoon shift.  As far as I know, it is the first time you disclosed it.  I am allowed to then ask questions about the afternoon shift.  That is how the system works.

So your counsel can step in and refuse, if you wish.  It is entirely up to you.

MR. RODGER:  Well, we have already heard Mr. Labricciosa say he will take a look to see what we have.  We may or may not, but we will check.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, are you going to answer the question or not?  It is an undertaking, so either you accept the undertaking or not.

MR. RODGER:  Well, like I just said, we will go back and we will check.  So if we can have an undertaking number, we will see.  Is that clear?

MR. SHEPHERD:  If you have the information, will you provide it, yes or no?

MR. RODGER:  Say it again clearly.  We will go back and check to see whether we have it or not.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Then if you have it, will you provide it?

MR. RODGER:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.

MR. RODGER:  So what is the undertaking number, please, Kristi?

MS. SEBALJ:  It is JT1.4.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.4:  TO PROVIDE COST OF ADDITIONAL SHIFT FOR THE TEST YEAR, WHAT SAVINGS ARE BUILT INTO THE APPLICATION, AND TO PROVIDE JUSTIFICATION DOCUMENT, IF ONE EXISTS.

MR. SHEPHERD:  The next one is you gave an undertaking, JT1.2, with respect to the surveys that you do each year.

First, I am not sure I understand why you can't provide them in the first place.  So perhaps you could help me with -- these were paid for by THESL; right?

MS. POWELL:  Yes, they were.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So then this is ratepayer money that is being used to pay for them; true?

MR. COUILLARD:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.  So then subject to obviously the Board's Practice Direction on confidentiality, is there some other reason, other than the fact that you've agreed with the providers to keep them confidential, why you can't provide them?

MS. POWELL:  There is no other reason.  That is the reason.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's the only reason.

Then I am going to ask you to provide them, anyway.

MR. RODGER:  Well, you have already got the aggregated information on the various levels within the organization.  What is the probative value of going down to the next layer?

MR. SHEPHERD:  I don't see how this is a next layer.  We have already been told that there is no company-specific information in this -- in this material.  So you are not breaching the confidence of other companies across the country.  And so all I am trying to understand is:  Why can't you just give us the documents that you are relying on?

You say you rely on these.  Let's see them.

MR. COUILLARD:  Mr. Shepherd, unfortunately we signed a confidentiality agreement right now.  So I can't provide that to you unless somebody is willing to waive that confidentiality agreement.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Or unless the Board tells you to; right?

MR. COUILLARD:  I guess you can bring a motion at a hearing, if you want.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Then the next is -- I actually have a bunch of questions on this one, but I will start with Mr. Crocker's question, because he asked you about BOMA No. 1.

If I can find it, that has a table, monthly table, of your customer numbers; correct?

MR. SEAL:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And the monthly numbers in December 2010 are significantly greater than -- in some cases, than the forecast for 2011.  Now, I understand you didn't do the forecast last week.  You did it several months ago.  I get that.

So starting first with Mr. Crocker's question, he has said, why doesn't the -- why isn't the forecast for 2011 50 rather than 47.  Should we understand that it is more correct to use the 50 number than the 47, given the actuals you now have to December?

MR. SEAL:  No, I wouldn't necessarily say that.  These numbers were a forecast at the time.  I did have another question that asked, in light of the latest customer numbers, whether I would revise the forecast, and I think they're still genuinely valid.  I could lose three customers through reclassification next month, so I stand by my numbers.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I guess what I don't understand is, for those two years, you had one reclassification downward and one upward, and you are assuming that you are going to immediately reclassify three downward?

MR. SEAL:  My forecast shows 47.  I think it is a valid forecast for the purposes of what I use this forecast for.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Then let me follow up with GS-over-50, the 50-to-999 class, which is the nearest and dearest to my heart.

And you have, in that class, monthly increases in almost every -- I think every month, or if not every month, almost every month for the two years of data that you have here, and then you forecast a drop, the only drop of any size, starting in January 2011.

Do you have some information that -- as to the basis for that?

MR. SEAL:  For the drop between December 2010 and January '11?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

MR. SEAL:  I think I have already answered that question, Jay.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, no.

MR. SEAL:  The forecast --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Nobody's asked you any questions about GS-over-50, so...

MR. SEAL:  The forecast that we did of customers was done back in mid-year of 2010.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.

MR. SEAL:  The numbers you see for December 2010 are actuals.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So this is approximately a 3 percent or maybe 4 percent difference in customer numbers between what you forecast and the trend that is apparent from the past data.

Do you agree that you should increase your GS-over-50 forecast to reflect the past data, the better data that you now have?

MR. SEAL:  I think my forecast is still a reasonable forecast for 2011.

MR. SHEPHERD:  What is the basis of that?

MR. SEAL:  The forecast that I did and filed.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, but you now have more data; right?

MR. SEAL:  I have the numbers up to December 2010.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So I am asking:  Why does that trend not cause you to think that the 2011 numbers are too low?

MR. SEAL:  I think a lot of things can happen between now and then.  What I'm saying, Jay, is that I feel comfortable with my forecast for 2011.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  My follow-up questions on the -- those are just my follow-ups on the follow-ups.

Now, my follow-ups on the original questions is –- are -- I will start, I guess, with Board Staff Question 5, page 3.

And this is –- there's a number of places in the evidence where you talk about the fact that you haven't been able to identify a CDM variable that -- or a way to estimate CDM impacts in your load forecast; is that right?

MR. SEAL:  I think what our load forecast says is that the models that we built which include the trend variable we think are the best models for forecasting load, including the impacts of CDM.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I understand that.  And then so basically it is built into the past data.  The past data already tells you what the future is going to look like without adding something more?

MR. SEAL:  True, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And so -- but you filed a CDM plan; right?  That adds some additional, more aggressive CDM activities, assuming it is approved, over the next few years, including this year; right?

MR. SEAL:  I am not intimately familiar with the CDM plan, but I know we filed a CDM plan with CDM volumes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So if there is a change in how much CDM you expect, do you have to build that into your forecast?

MR. SEAL:  What I'm saying is I believe the trend variables and the equations themselves are a good forecast for 2011 load.

So I guess what I'm saying is, yeah, I think they're already incorporating what I expect CDM might be.

In addition to CDM, not just CDM but natural conservation, economic variables, we have said that those things are being captured by our trend variables.

MR. SARDANA:  So statistically, we have more faith in the models that we build than putting in place a specific CDM factor.  These models are performing well.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I understand that.  And actually, I probably agree with you, but what I am trying to understand is whether there's some reason why you think that the past trend will continue in the future, notwithstanding your changed activities in CDM, and indeed, other people's changed activities.

Why do you think the trend is going to continue?

MR. SEAL:  It is a one-year forecast where we have used fairly recent data.  I this it is a good forecast.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So if you were forecasting three or four years, then you might not give the same answer?

MR. SEAL:  I might not give the same answer.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  I understand.

In Staff No. 6, there is -- this is a discussion about merchandise and jobbing revenues.  So I have two questions about this.

The first is:  Do I understand correctly that what you're saying is that an additional amount should be included in your revenues, in your other revenues, to account for the margin for merchandise and jobbing?

MR. JAMAL:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So we should add 1.2 million; right?

MR. JAMAL:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  You are proposing to add that not right now, but at the draft rate order stage?

MR. SARDANA:  I think that would be the process that we would follow, that -- you know, subject to how ADR unfolds, and then if we go into a hearing, how that unfolds, and then we would put that -– we would reflect that in rate finalization.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  You talked about -- you talk about a $6 million of costs having a $1.2 million margin.  But you have $8.5 million costs in the historical years having a 3 million; right?

So why is the margin going down?

MR. JAMAL:  There's been some fluctuation in the margin, because there has been -- the accounting hasn't been consistent throughout the years.  We have been doing it sometimes on a cash basis, so we have cleaned up that accounting.

If you look at similar information over the last couple of years, the margin is at about 20 percent, and we typically add an administrative charge of 20 percent to all the demand billable work.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So if I look at 2009, for example, I will see 20 percent?

MR. JAMAL:  Approximately.  It should be about 20 percent.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Thanks.  Then in Staff No. 11, you were asked why you were using 25 percent as the depreciation rate for accounts 1920 and 1921.

Who is this?  This is -- who am I asking this to?

MR. COUILLARD:  I will take it.

MR. SHEPHERD:  JS.  Okay.  And you were asked why you were using 25 percent when the EDR Handbook says 20 percent.

Do I understand correctly that what you're saying here is that you understand that you are not complying with the EDR Handbook, but your rates are still valid rates?  Is that right?

MR. COUILLARD:  Well, we understand that there was probably a discrepancy in this depreciation rate, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you presumably have, like, a depreciation study or something that says that 25 percent is the correct number, instead of 20 percent?

MR. COUILLARD:  In this particular case, we do not.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But this 20 percent -- the 25 percent that you are using, you have been using it for some years; right?

MR. COUILLARD:  Yes.  We believe it was more reflective of the life of the equipment.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You say here that the CIS is also going to be in this; the CIS is software; right?

MR. COUILLARD:  The current one, mot the new one.  Like, we have -- we currently are in the process of building a new CIS system.

MR. SHEPHERD:  This says the CIS assets will be included in these accounts.  That sounds like it is the new one.

MR. COUILLARD:  Yeah, but it will be -- we will revise or review, at the time we include the CIS there, the depreciation period for the CIS.

So it wouldn't be accurate to assume that 25 percent will be used on a going-forward basis for the CIS system.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Isn't your application predicated on the notion that the CIS is in service in 2011?

MR. COUILLARD:  The CIS will be in service in probably towards the mid- to third, second or third quarter in 2011.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So what rate are you using for it?

MR. COUILLARD:  Well, Mr. Shepherd, I would -- probably using the 25, but subject to check, and I would like to check that one for 2011.  There will be a half-year rule, as well, so the impact for 2011 will be minimal.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, there's a half -- I --


MR. COUILLARD:  There is always a half-year rule when you put an asset in service.

MR. SHEPHERD:  No, I know what the half-year rule is, but I had understood that you actually use a monthly in-service date.  Don't you?

MR. COUILLARD:  I will have to check that one.  For the particular CIS --


MR. SHEPHERD:  -- for your assets, generally?

MR. COUILLARD:  Most of them, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Why would you not do that for the CIS?

MR. COUILLARD:  That is what we're expecting to do.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So whatever month it is in service, that's when you start --


MR. COUILLARD:  Whatever assumption we took, that is what was being used to calculate it.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It would be helpful if you could undertake to clarify this, because I am not sure I understand the answer.

MR. COUILLARD:  Okay.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You weren't expecting it; I get that.  So could you tell us what rate you are going to depreciate it at, the basis for that rate, and your current expectation as to the month it will be in service and confirmation that that month is the start of the depreciation?

MR. COUILLARD:  Yes, Mr. Shepherd.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.

MS. SEBALJ:  JT1.5.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.5: TO PROVIDE CIS RATE OF DEPRECIATION, BASIS FOR RATE, CURRENT EXPECTATION AS TO WHAT MONTH IT WILL BE IN SERVICE.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Staff No. 12 talks about the difference in your opening rate base between what you originally filed and your current numbers.

I understand it has gone down by about $22 million because the CIS was delayed; your opening rate base, that is?

MR. COUILLARD:  Sorry, yes.  I thought he was going to take that, so...

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  You haven't made that change to your application yet?

MR. COUILLARD:  No.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So, again, is that one that you would expect to deal with in the draft rate order stage, or are you going to do an update for things like this?  Like, this could be significant; right?

MR. COUILLARD:  Not at this point, Mr. Shepherd, because there is a lot of different assets, you know, different categories, I mean, if you start with this one, and there is other assets that we have that are in service or not in service.  We will look overall at the difference in our rate base versus what we had filed and make a decision at this point if we believe there is a material difference.

So we do not -- sorry, I do not want to interrupt you, but we do not believe we want to make changes for one-offs.  So we are going to look at the entire rate base.  If we believe the entire rate base is materially different than what we have filed, then we might provide for an update.

MR. SHEPHERD:  This is one that could be some millions of dollars in impact; right?

MR. COUILLARD:  Mr. Shepherd, I will let you make that point in argument, I guess.  That is the company position.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I asked you a factual question.  I don't make factual --


MR. COUILLARD:  I haven't made -- I haven't done the calculation of how much it represents.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Is it potentially a material impact?  How difficult is this, Mr. Couillard?

MR. COUILLARD:  Well, the problem here is, yes, this one in itself could have an impact.  But others that, you know, might not have been there could have also had the opposite impact.

The point I am trying to drive here is the fact that the company, before agreeing to make any update in to the application and the rate base, we will review the overall rate base, where we're coming versus where we said we were going to come.

MR. SHEPHERD:  The impacts of something like this are not just cost of capital and depreciation, but also presumably you will have to, at some point, adjust your CCA and, therefore, your PILs amount for the different in-service date?

MR. COUILLARD:  Yes.  I mean, the whole thing, yeah.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And this is 50 percent deducted in the year of in-service for CCA?

MR. COUILLARD:  I am not a tax person.  This one I will have to take an undertaking to open the Tax Act and look at it for you.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I wonder if you could undertake to provide us with all of the revenue requirement impacts of the delay of this project from 2010 to 2011?

MR. COUILLARD:  At this time, Mr. Shepherd, I would not agree to take that undertaking.

MR. SHEPHERD:  What is your basis?

MR. COUILLARD:  I just don't feel -- this is a lot of work.  This will take a lot of time for us to derive, and we are not prepared to do that at this point.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you are not objecting to its materiality or relevance?

MR. COUILLARD:  I am not commenting on its materiality or its relevance.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.

The next is Staff No. 14, and in Staff No. 14 you were asked:  Why did the "other" category increase by 51.9 percent from 2010 to 2011?

And your answer, as I understand it, is because these are smaller projects and we had more smaller projects.  I am not sure that is helpful and I wonder if you could help me further on that.

MR. LABRICCIOSA:  I can't comment on whether I can help you further on it until you ask the question.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I have asked the question.  You haven't given an answer to the question.

MR. LABRICCIOSA:  There are many small projects under there that fall under that category.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Why did you have so many small projects in 2011 and not in 2010?

MR. LABRICCIOSA:  Just the nature of the review when we looked at it.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you have no rationale for this?

MR. LABRICCIOSA:  It --


MR. SHEPHERD:  I am inviting you to justify it.

MR. LABRICCIOSA:  It is what it is.  It is just a review of the conditions of the assets and the number of projects we have identified.  The numbers happen to be a very large number of smaller-scale projects.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  For Staff No. 15, in which you have given the same response, you would have the same answer, that you just happen to have lots of small fixes?

MR. LABRICCIOSA:  I believe you're correct.  There just, again, happen to be smaller-scale projects, more for a greater total.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  I am looking at Staff No. 22, and in Staff No. 22 you were originally asked -- basically, you were asked:  So what is the PST impact over the course of the 2011 year?  And you said, Well -- sorry, over the last half of 2010, and, therefore, can't you use that to forecast 2011?

And your answer was, No, we didn't do the forecast on that basis.

I guess I would ask the question:  Well, you do know what your PST for the last half of 2010 was that is in the variance account; right?

MR. JAMAL:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And so can you tell us what percentage that is of your O&M or OM&A or -- yeah, your OM&A.


MR. JAMAL:  The estimated PST savings for the last half of the year, as a percentage of the OM&A?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

MR. JAMAL:  It is a combination of OM&A and cap-ex that we have put to the variance account.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But you know how much is OM&A and how much is cap-ex?

MR. JAMAL:  Yes.  I will have to get that for you.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  You know what percentage of your OM&A is reflected in six months of PST; right?

MR. JAMAL:  Yes.  It is not -- it is done by major categories, because some categories are not taxable.  So we're doing it at a high level.

MR. SHEPHERD:  No, I understand.  That is the difficulty, is that some categories, like personnel costs, are not taxable; right?

MR. JAMAL:  Yes, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Here is what I would like you to do.  Could you tell us what is the percentage of your OM&A for that period that was -- the PST number is; right?  So you have a PST number for OM&A, and what percentage is it of OM&A?

What is the percentage of cap-ex for the cap-ex number, and if you then extrapolate those percentages to your 2011 application, what would the numbers be?

MR. JAMAL:  Sure.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I understand you haven't included them in there, but we would like to know what they would have been had you included them, okay?

MR. JAMAL:  Certainly.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.

MS. SEBALJ:  JT1.5.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I thought it was --


MS. SEBALJ:  Is it 1.6?

MR. SHEPHERD:  I think it is 1.6.

MS. SEBALJ:  Okay, thank you.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.6:  TO PROVIDE WHAT PERCENTAGE PST IS OF OM&A AND WHAT PERCENTAGE OF CAP-EX, AND TO PROVIDE EXTRAPOLATION OF PERCENTAGES TO YOUR 2011 APPLICATION.

MR. SHEPHERD:  The next one is AMPCO No. 6.  In AMPCO No. 6, you were asked about this -- you have this initiative to harmonize job classifications, and you were asked:  So how many of you harmonized so far?

My impression is that, aside from a big number in 1999 and a few more in 2007 and 2008, you aren't harmonizing job classifications anymore and haven't for some years; right?

MS. POWELL:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Is that right?

MS. POWELL:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And is that because they're all done now?

MS. POWELL:  No.  These have to be negotiated, and so our class collective bargaining was 2007.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And then you have another one coming up this year; right?

MS. POWELL:  No.  We signed a five-year agreement.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So it's 2012, is the next one?

MS. POWELL:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So your plan, then, is to harmonize some more then?

MS. POWELL:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Thank you.

I am removing questions, you will be pleased to know.

MR. COUILLARD:  Very pleased.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Ah, yes.  Okay.

So I am looking at CCC No. 5 and SEC No. 1 -- no.  Sorry, VECC No. 1.  I was taking credit where it was not due.

And what I see here is that for the 2010 bridge year, your application and your forecast is for FTEs of 1,773 and your historical actual was actually only 1,657.

So first question is:  Can you sort of give us a brief explanation as to why there is such a big difference?

MR. COUILLARD:  Sorry, Mr. Shepherd, can you just repeat the question, please?  I'm just trying to make sure -- you are referring to two evidence, so we are trying to get them in front of us.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sure.  Sure.

In CCC No. 5, you have what is in the filing guidelines, I think, 2(l), the employee compensation table, and right at the top, you have 2010 bridge, which I think is the numbers from your application.  And the total FTEs is 1,773.

MR. COUILLARD:  We got that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But then you have updated that with the 2010 actuals in VECC 1, and the 2010 actuals are 1,657, so that is a lot lower than 1,773.

So I am trying to understand.

[Witness panel confers]

MS. POWELL:  So the 1,773 figure was the original ask, when we filed.  And then upon what was granted, there was a shortfall, so we ended up not filling as many positions as anticipated.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, the 2010 was your original ask from what?

MR. COUILLARD:  When we got our -- when we did the settlement last year, Mr. Shepherd, 1,773 was the number that we had in our original filing for 2010.

We settled for a lower amount of OM&A.  We did not go revise the number of employees, but we reduced the OM&A to comply.

So I think the number has -- it is a bit misleading here.  And part of it is our fault.  Like, 1,773 was no longer what we were expecting to have at the end of 2010, after we reduced our OM&A targets following the settlement that happened last year for 2010.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So whenever we see that set of numbers, the ones that total 1,773 in this application, we should assume that is old news.  It's not --


MR. COUILLARD:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It is not appropriate?

MR. COUILLARD:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Then I am going to ask you to go to -- on the same table, at the bottom you have total compensation 222.4 million, which I take it is your bridge year forecast; right?

MR. COUILLARD:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But then I am looking at VECC No. 1, and it has 209.9 as the actual.  So that's a 6 percent difference.

And I guess the question is:  Should we also assume that all the dollar numbers in your application relating to the bridge year compensation are incorrect?

MR. COUILLARD:  I think they have been revised, and I think we should -- it would be more appropriate to use the latest number we filed.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  But when you did your -- is the whole application like that?  All your 2010 bridge year numbers are based on your previous application, and not what you actually expected to happen?

MR. COUILLARD:  Not everywhere, no, sir.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Can you tell us where it is real and where it isn't?

MR. COUILLARD:  We can take an undertaking and come back to you.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So then I am going to ask you a question.  So your OM&A number for 2010 -- I don't remember what it is, it doesn't matter -- you said you can't tell us what the actual is because you don't have it yet, but we do know that the biggest part of it is compensation; right?

MR. COUILLARD:  That's correct.  About 100 million, or give or take.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And so at least we know that that part is 6 percent lower; right?

MR. COUILLARD:  6 percent lower from what?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, because we have the compensation numbers right here.

MR. COUILLARD:  No.  The number --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Here is the actual compensation numbers.

MR. COUILLARD:  The actual compensation number we have in OM&A will be very close to what we had approved in rates.  If you look at our 2010 actuals, like, you know, we haven't filed our 2010 actuals, but if I look at where I am going to end the year based on eleven months of actuals, and knowing some of the first draft will be very close to what we had approved for spend in OM&A for 2010.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But here is what I don't understand.  Your OM&A number in the application, your bridge year OM&A number, is it based on what you originally wanted for 2010?  Or is it based on what was approved?

MR. COUILLARD:  No, it should be based on what was approved.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So then -- but the compensation number that was included in it was this one from CCC No. 5; right?

MR. COUILLARD:  Mr. Shepherd, I know that the number of headcount, the FTE employees, is incorrect.

I am going to have to take an undertaking and come back at you on the compensation dollar value.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So here is what I am going to ask you to do, is I am going to ask you, first of all, to reconcile CCC No. 5 with VECC No. 1.

MR. COUILLARD:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So that we can understand which is right.

And then I am going to ask you to tell us for the rest of your bridge year OM&A and capital numbers, which is the compensation set that is in there, that is in those numbers.  And if it is the first one, the one that you filed with the application, then what changes have to be made to reflect the fact that it wasn't correct?

MR. COUILLARD:  We will provide that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And then -- still not finished -- and then, could you tell us what other numbers in the application are based on 2010 requested, rather than the actual forecast you are working to -- you were working to?

MR. COUILLARD:  That's fine, Mr. Shepherd.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  Thank you.

MS. SEBALJ:  JT1.7.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.7:  to RECONCILE NUMBERS IN RESPONSES TO CCC INTERROGATORY NO. 5 AND VECC INTERROGATORY NO. 1; FOR THE BALANCE OF BRIDGE YEAR OM&A AND CAPITAL NUMBERS, to DESCRIBE WHICH COMPENSATION SET IS USED; IF IT IS THE SET FILED WITH THE APPLICATION, to DESCRIBE WHAT CHANGES HAVE TO BE MADE TO REFLECT THE FACT THAT IT WASN'T CORRECT; to dESCRIBE WHAT OTHER NUMBERS IN THE APPLICATION ARE BASED ON 2010 REQUESTED, RATHER THAN THE ACTUAL FORECAST.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Then the next one I have a question on is CCC No. 7.

And any time you want to take a break, just let me know.  I've got another hour anyway.  So if you want to take a break now or you want to wait until 3:00 o'clock, I don't care.  I am easy.

MR. LABRICCIOSA:  I would prefer to keep ongoing.  Let's go.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm happy.

MS. SEBALJ:  I'm assuming -- Teresa, how about you?  Break now or in half an hour?

REPORTER:  I'm fine.

MS. SEBALJ:  Okay.

MR. SHEPHERD:  In Consumers Council No. 7, you talk about the costs of the GPS system, which -- it was higher than I expected, 35 bucks per vehicle per month; and you have about 700-odd vehicles?

MR. LABRICCIOSA:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Did you two a business case on this?

MR. LABRICCIOSA:  No, sir.

MR. SHEPHERD:  When you implemented this GPS, I mean, you implemented the GPS to save money; right?

MR. LABRICCIOSA:  Not necessarily, no.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Then why did you implement it?

MR. LABRICCIOSA:  From a service improvement perspective.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And do you know whether it is saving you any money?

MR. LABRICCIOSA:  If we -- well, no.  It is clear it is costing us more money to run the GPS system, so it is not saving us any money at this stage, if it is costing us more.

These are all additional costs to what we did before the GPS; correct?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, sometimes you spend money because it'll save you money somewhere else.  That is not the case here?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. LABRICCIOSA:  I can't say it is the case or isn't the case here, because we didn't do that financial benefit analysis on this project.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you don't actually know how much it is costing you, then, net?

MR. LABRICCIOSA:  This is part and parcel of our modernization strategy, in terms of our -- it is just the way businesses operate.  I mean, GPS is part of our modern business function and people use it to operate their business.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  That is not actually what I am concerned about, though.  What I am concerned with is -- I agree with you.  I think GPS is a good idea, absolutely, but normally you would find some savings in operating more efficiently.  So what I am trying to find out is whether the rest of your application reflects the savings that are coming from initiatives like this.

I take it you are saying you haven't done that analysis?

MR. LABRICCIOSA:  Not in isolation.  Certainly the savings are incorporated as part of the overall costs of the application.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.  Then on the next page of that response -- and you answered, I think -- you were asked about this in the context of CCC 15, and I may have just missed the answer.

You talk about your occupancy costs, and you talked about the error in those costs.  What does that do to the numbers in your application?

MR. LABRICCIOSA:  When Mr. Faye asked the question, it was in relation to a net zero-sum approach, in terms of distributing our costs amongst the business.  And the answer was, yes, it is a net zero-sum cost.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So individual numbers within your various budgets will change because you had -- your square footage was out by, I don't know, a third.  But that your overall occupancy costs, where it is found everywhere in your application, will be the same?

MR. LABRICCIOSA:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, thanks.

In CCC No. 9, you were asked about the "All Other Categories" in regulatory affairs.  I understand this generally, except for one word here.  You have "penalties".

To the best of my knowledge, the only penalties that I know of recently didn't involve Toronto Hydro, although it did involve other people that were close to my heart.

So what are these penalties?

MR. SARDANA:  Mr. Shepherd, I will answer that.  I think that is just a generic term we have for our sub-ledger account, penalties and fees.  It's not to do with any specific penalties.  That is how we title the account; that's all.

MR. SHEPHERD:  As far as you know, there are no penalties included in this number?

MR. SARDANA:  We did face some penalties with our suite smart metering compliance hearing.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, yes?

MR. SARDANA:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And you're charging those to ratepayers?

MR. SARDANA:  I don't think those are included in here.  We paid that out of our pocket, subject to check.  We did pay that out of our pocket.  So I brought up two generic things.  One, we did have some penalties.  They didn't get charged to ratepayers.

Two, this is just how we labelled the account.  And we have not had any penalties.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I understand that.  Can you undertake to check to see whether there were any penalties put in that account and, if so, what they were?

MR. SARDANA:  Sure.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thanks.

MS. SEBALJ:  JT1.8.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.8:  TO ADVISE WHETHER ANY PENALTIES WERE INCLUDED IN "ALL OTHER CATEGORIES" ACCOUNT.

MR. SHEPHERD:  In CCC No. 12, you were asked to provide in-service dates for specific projects, and you said you can't do that, because you do your assumed in service on a portfolio basis.  Is that my correct understanding?

MR. JAMAL:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I had thought that you did your depreciation on a month-by-month basis; right?

MR. JAMAL:  Not for plan.  I believe this question related to the forecast or the plan.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And for plan, you take the category, like underground vaults, let's say.

MR. JAMAL:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And you say:  What time of year do we normally put that in service?  Is that right?

MR. JAMAL:  We take a percentage of that and we allocate, yes.  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you assume that if there is any seasonality, it is built into the past data and you will get it by using that?

MR. JAMAL:  Yes, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And have you tracked that method, that forecasting method, to past data to see if it is accurate; that is, that it ends up forecasting correctly relative to what actually happens?

MR. JAMAL:  No.  We don't do any analysis.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So if, as a general matter, projects are more likely to be delayed than not delayed, is asymmetrical, that wouldn't be captured in this?

MR. JAMAL:  No.  We base it on recent history and it wouldn't be captured.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So past delays would be already in the trend data?

MR. JAMAL:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, thank you.

In Energy Probe No. 12, you were asked about the repayment of apprentice training costs, so I have two questions about that.  Do I understand correctly, of the $150,000 cost of training an apprentice, 15,000 - 10 percent - is this repayable component?  Is that right?

MR. LABRICCIOSA:  Sorry, Mr. Shepherd, what was the IR number you referenced?  Is it 12 or 13?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Twelve.  Energy Probe S1-5-12, apprentice training costs.

MR. LABRICCIOSA:  This one.  Sorry, schedule 12, it is S1-5-12, you said?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

MR. LABRICCIOSA:  It is Energy Probe IR 22.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It is actually Energy Probe IR 57, but it refers back to 22, correct.

MR. LABRICCIOSA:  Sorry.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Anyway, I am looking actually at the response.  You say -- in the response, it says, It costs us 150 to train an apprentice, and the recovery is 10 percent.

So this is the question about the recovery.  I assume that is the amount that you can recover from the apprentice, is 10 percent?

MS. POWELL:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And the other 90 percent is internal costs that you will never get back from them?

MS. POWELL:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, I understand that.  And then it says that it takes you four-and-a-half years to train them, and then four-and-a-half years to recoup the costs of training?

MS. POWELL:  Hmm-hmm.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You don't have an accounting method of tracking that you are recouping training costs; right?  You expense them today?

MS. POWELL:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But you think that the incremental productivity of the apprentice in years 5 through 9 is sufficient to cover the cost of training them in the first place?

MS. POWELL:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Is that right?

MS. POWELL:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Is that sort of a gut feel estimate, or is that something that you have some analysis on?  Have you done a study, or is there material out there in the broader world that says these are good metrics, or is this just your own sense?

MS. POWELL:  I am not sure about that.  I know that the person who responded to this probably did, but I can't say for sure.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right, thanks.

And do I understand correctly that this $150,000 estimated cost implies that the apprentices you have right now will ultimately cost you around $15 or $20 million?  Am I in the ballpark?

MR. COUILLARD:  How do you calculate --


MR. SHEPHERD:  You have 100 or 150 apprentices right now, or 120, maybe?  I don't remember the number.

MS. POWELL:  It is just around...

MR. SHEPHERD:  We should just multiply that by 150 to get the total costs that those people will -- you will incur to train those people?

MS. POWELL:  Correct.

MR. COUILLARD:  They are not non-productive for the first four-and-a-half years.  I just want to make sure -- like, they do some work.  We do start capitalizing some of their work early on, less of a percentage.  It is not like we are expensing the entire cost of their -- if they are productive on the field, then these costs will be capitalized.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I understand, Mr. Couillard, it is not black and white, but this sounds like it is saying:  It costs us 150 and then we get it back; is that right?

MR. COUILLARD:  We could get it back in, you know, work that they provide and things like that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  I am looking at School Energy Coalition No. 2.  I had to eventually get to ours.

What we're asking about is:  When is the payback for this preventive spending?  You are spending money; in fact, you are increasing your spending on preventive activities, both OM&A and capital; right?  I mean, that is part of your strategy, is to ramp those things up so you will have a better system; true?

MR. LABRICCIOSA:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And so common sense says that at some point there is a payback to that.  You are not just spending the money because you want to have shinier gear.  You are spending the money because in the long-term, it is going to be a cheaper and better way and more efficient way of running the system; right?

MR. LABRICCIOSA:  There is a benefit attributed to it, for sure.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  What we are asking is:  When do we start to see the benefits?  When are there going to be quantifiable benefits of this extra spending?

You must have a plan?

MR. LABRICCIOSA:  You are asking for a forecast, in terms of an output?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  And the benefits might be better reliability, the benefits might be lower costs.

MR. LABRICCIOSA:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Lower reactive maintenance, all sorts of things, but you must have a plan that says when that stuff is going to kick in; right?

MR. LABRICCIOSA:  It doesn't necessarily, the "when" part of it.  I think you're asking for a quantifiable result, and I don't know that we can extract it simply just on the benefits of this program.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, how did you decide how to spend more, if you didn't know when -- what your return was going to be, and when?

MR. LABRICCIOSA:  Again, you are asking for a quantifiable, formulaic approach to this, and it is not quite amenable to that sort of isolated analysis.

What we are looking at is the logic, as you explained before.  You expend certain dollars on maintenance programs with an expected output, in terms of a directional improvement or holding a trend, whether it is an improvement in reliability or safety.

From my perspective, when I look at it, we expend those maintenance dollars to keep certain performance parameters in check.  And so when they start going out, for example, in the tree-trimming example that we talk about there, if you notice more tree contacts in certain years, you go back and you look at the data and apply more tree trimming where it is, in terms of the condition of the plant.

It doesn't lend itself to a, you know, "spend a dollar more, get a dollar back" kind of philosophy.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I understand what you're saying, and what I am trying to get at is you go -- you want to spend an additional $20 million on widget washing.

And you go to Mr. Couillard or Mr. Haines and you say:  Give me $20 million more in my budget for widget washing.  Their question is going to be:  Why is it 20?  Why isn't it 15?  Why isn't it 25?  Where is your justification?

How do you give that justification if you don't have any data on what the payback is going to be?

MR. LABRICCIOSA:  There is sort of two points to that example.  One would be there is a base kind of approach in terms of historical -- historical spending, historical performance.  You know, a certain amount of maintenance dollars are just needed to keep the system performing where it is at.  Then there is sort of the recent trends.

So you look at the analysis, most recent trends, a year, six months, and you identify areas of your system which scheme to be a little bit more vulnerable than the average historical perspective, and you identify what is required to get that back to behave -- to behave like the rest of the system does, and you estimate those dollars and add them to the system.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So at no point in this do you say -- do you do an investment analysis that says:  If we spend this money now, we will get it back later?

MR. LABRICCIOSA:  You know, at the highest level, we take a look at the entire spend portfolio, capital and operating, and we look at -- sometimes there are trade-offs between the two, where if we're not going to do a specific project this year, from a capital perspective we have to forego it.  We may apply some maintenance dollars and increase that level of activity.

It is sort of a generic example or approach in terms of drilling down to the specifics at the project trade-offs between capital and operating.

So for example, if you don't get a chance to rebuild a certain area -- it is heavily treed -- you might go in and do a little bit more tree trimming to prevent animal and tree contacts, simply because you are not going to go in there to rebuild it this year.

In retrospect, when you make that kind of decision, you might be prepping that tree-trimming program for the rebuild a year later.  So you prevent immediate outages, while you delay and defer that capital investment for a year or two, when you take advantage of the tree trimming you did to put new plant up there.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I am trying to understand the first part of that, of your answer, which is that -- that decision to not do the rebuild this year.

That isn't just done on gut feel; right?

MR. LABRICCIOSA:  No, it's not.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You run some analysis?

MR. LABRICCIOSA:  From the capital perspective, there's, again, some of the tools we mentioned in the filing itself, the evidence; there is a priority ranking methodology we use, to do a relative ranking between each project.  The whole list comes out in a ranking format.

Of course, we don't assume we get every dollar -- we would like to get every dollar we could, but when you are done with the funding levels that are approved, obviously, everything below a certain mark falls off that list.

That doesn't mean we stop there.  We take a look at what else can we do to keep that performance in check so it doesn't degrade, until we get to apply for more funding for those projects that dropped off the list.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, in fact, the application doesn't even have everything in it that you asked for in the first place; right?  Because internally, there's --


MR. LABRICCIOSA:  Exactly.

MR. SHEPHERD:  -- there is people saying:  No, no, hang on a second.  We can't do that this year.  A billion dollar capital budget is too high?

MR. LABRICCIOSA:  Exactly.  Conversely, there is things that have to go ahead regardless of -- from a distribution system perspective, it may not qualify on the top-ranked list, but the opportunity exists that somebody else is going in at the same time and we're coordinating projects and things like that, as well.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, you talked about this prioritization list, this relative priorities of projects, which I understand.  It's a -- and your system is designed to do that; right?

MR. LABRICCIOSA:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But then we asked in another IR -- which I'll get to in a minute, but I will ask it now anyway -- if you cut $100 million off your capital budget, what do you cut?

Well, you have a list; right?  So what is the next one hundred million on the list, the last hundred million that would be cut on that prioritization list?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. LABRICCIOSA:  If I remember the IR correctly, it talked about what will happen if you cut the 100 million, not show us which projects drop off on that 100 million cut.

I think our response was we can't predict the output of that 100 million, nor -- nor are we in a position to do that.

The other element of part of that response included that there are some projects we started that you just cannot cut.  We are in the middle of a rebuild area, and we are in phase 2 of a phase 3-type project that we have to continue on.

But to answer the original question you just asked -- do we have lists and do we have a priority ranking -- yes, we do.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, so obviously we've not explained ourselves correctly.

It is technical conference question no. 14.  So let me ask -- maybe it is just that we didn't understand your system and how it worked.

Can you give us the list of the last $100 million of projects in your prioritization list up to the 500 you asked for -- so the bottom hundred -- and exclude from that any ones that have already started?

So the last hundred of the ones that haven't started yet; can you do that?

MR. LABRICCIOSA:  Yes.  We can give you the bottom hundred on the application that we have applied for, sure, that haven't started.  That's correct.

MS. SEBALJ:  JT1.9.

UNDERTAKING NO. JT 1.9:  TO PROVIDE LIST OF 100 PROJECTS AT BOTTOM OF PRIORITIZATION LIST, EXCLUDING PROJECTS ALREADY UNDERWAY.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I have just a question, and this is probably my own missing it in the application, but in School Energy Coalition No. 3 at page 4 -– well, all of the pages, they talk about your number of vehicles each year, and you had 723 in 2010.  Do we have somewhere in the application what the number is for 2011, or do you know it offhand, number of vehicles?

MR. LABRICCIOSA:  I'm sorry, you were asking the question:  Do we have the number of vehicles for each of the years?

MR. SHEPHERD:  No, no.  You have them up to 2010.  I am asking, in the test year, there is an equivalent list, presumably, and I actually looked for a list like this for 2011 and it is probably in there.  I just couldn't find it.  Is it in the application somewhere?

MR. LABRICCIOSA:  It may be in the application, subject to check, but we can produce it.  I am sure we have it.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.

MS. SEBALJ:  It is JT1.10.


MR. LABRICCIOSA:  For that 1.10, can we just double-check to see if it is in the application?  If it is, we will just refer to it and, if it isn't, we will just submit it, if that's all right.

MR. SHEPHERD:  As I say, it probably is in there.  I just couldn't find it.

MS. SEBALJ:  Should we just remove it until after the break, and, if you can't produce it after the break, we'll create an undertaking?  Is that okay?

MR. LABRICCIOSA:  Sure.

MS. SEBALJ:  Do you want a number, Jay?

MR. SHEPHERD:  No, that's fine.

On that same interrogatory response or technical conference question response, on page 2 you gave us some customer ratings, poor, average, good.

These customer ratings are for what year?

MR. LABRICCIOSA:  Subject to check, it would be 2010, and these are ratings from the drivers of those vehicles or the operators of the vehicles for the repair.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That was going to be the next question.  The customers are your employees?

MR. LABRICCIOSA:  You got it.

MR. SHEPHERD:  They are customers of the fleet service?

MR. LABRICCIOSA:  They're internal customers.  We call them customers, but they're really operators of the equipment.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You're right.  They're the customers.

Do you have similar data for prior years?

MR. LABRICCIOSA:  We would have similar operator ratings, but the questions may have been different at that time.  So we've been polling operator satisfaction with fleet maintenance for the last couple of years, but the level of questions and the types of questions may have varied.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Do you know whether -- do you know whether these ratings have improved in 2010 relative to prior years?

MR. LABRICCIOSA:  Yes.  I think overall -- we believe that the ratings you are seeing in front of you are an improvement from the operators' perspectives.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Have you done sort of analysis -- you are spending more money in 2010 and 2011 on this precisely to get these results, right, to get better service?

MR. LABRICCIOSA:  Well, I think that is the end game, is to get better service, in general, but you want your fleet up-time to be in there.  You want your costs to be in check.  You want your asset to perform.  The service part of it is one element; that's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Have you done some sort of analysis of whether the spending is producing the results you want?

MR. LABRICCIOSA:  Again, when you ask the questions in a formulaic kind of way, it is not an input-output sort of response, but there is a notional feel that the improvement is there.

When you look at things like -- again, when you go look at average to good, we are shooting for more in the good and the average categories, than in the poor.

So when you look at those ratings -- and the movement is happening in that direction, to average and good, when we look at it.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  School Energy Coalition No. 6 is -- I asked you about the migration of data from the old CIS to the new CIS, a common problem in big IT projects, I know.

I want to just ask this.  You are going to keep the old CIS operating for a period of time, and that is one of the reasons why you are able to use this manual migration; right?

MR. COUILLARD:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And so that presumably means that for the old CIS, you have to continue to pay licence fees, and you have to continue to maintain hardware and software and have people to do that for some period of time; right?

MR. COUILLARD:  Yes.  That would be our assumption.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And do you have an estimate of the costs of doing that?

MR. JAMAL:  The licence fees, as far as I can remember, we don't pay licence fees anymore, because the application is now owned or --


MR. SHEPHERD:  This is Harris or something?

MR. JAMAL:  No.  It is Banner.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Banner.

MR. JAMAL:  I don't think there are significant costs related to the management of that old application.  It is just people with information to access the data.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But I am more concerned about the people costs, because you have to have a support team to support the old --


MR. JAMAL:  It is minimal.  It is a couple of people.

MR. COUILLARD:  It is the same team that basically has been involved in the new system.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So some of them have been retrained on the new system, but they still retain their knowledge of the old system?

MR. COUILLARD:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, got it.

In SEC No. 7, we were trying to find the costs of particular functions, and the functions, there is basically five main functions that were primarily provided by THC in 2009, for example, and now are primarily being done in-house; right?

MR. COUILLARD:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And so what we didn't get - and it may be just our fault for not explaining it right - is we didn't get an explanation of what these functions cost now.  We know what you are paying THC, but THC is not doing them anymore.  They are now being done internally.

So what we are trying to get is you used to be paying THC for this, this, this and this, and this is how much it costs.  Now you are doing it internally and this is how much it costs.

I don't see that here.  Is that something you can provide?  Presumably that was part of your analysis when you transferred them over; right?

[Witness panel confers]


MR. COUILLARD:  Yes, we can provide that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.

MS. SEBALJ:  JT1.10.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.10:  TO PROVIDE A BREAKDOWN OF COSTS AS PER SEC IR No. 7.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Do you understand what I am looking for?

MR. COUILLARD:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, good.

MR. COUILLARD:  Mr. Shepherd, would you tell me what function you want?  Like, what --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, the easiest way to do is look at the -- maybe the 2009 SLA and look at all of the things that you were paying THC for, and then look at today, or in the test year, how much are all of those things costing.  Some of them you are still paying THC for, but most of them are now being done --


MR. COUILLARD:  Okay.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right?  Did you do, like, an analysis, a spreadsheet or something, to show what was going to happen when you moved those 33 people over, what it would mean in terms of your costs?

MR. COUILLARD:  Well, the costs were going to be the same.  Like, we didn't do an analysis, per se.  Instead of charging the costs back to -- instead of THC charging back, THESL paid the costs directly.  So there was no margin charged by THC in the past for those costs.

So as an example, if an employee in my department that was in charge of tax was a THC employee and was charging his salary to THESL, and now he became a THESL employee and his salary just went to...

MR. SHEPHERD:  I understand that, but that wasn't quite what I was trying to drive to, because not all of the costs of these people were allocated to THESL; right?  Some of them were.  Most of them were, maybe.

MR. COUILLARD:  The material part was allocated to THESL, yes.  That is why we moved them in the first place.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So there was no material impact of moving them to THESL?

MR. COUILLARD:  No.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Except that now it does cost more this year than it did in 2009?

MR. COUILLARD:  For the reason that had nothing to do with this restructuring.

MR. SHEPHERD:  No, but it still does cost more; right?

MR. COUILLARD:  It would have cost more if these people had remained in THC, as well, because THESL has different needs.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  The next is School's No. 11.  And this asks about the -- this refers back to AMPCO's question about the benchmarking study.

And you were going to do a new formal external benchmarking study in 2011.  Do I read the answer to this question correctly that you are no longer planning to do that?

MS. POWELL:  That's correct.  We are not going to undertake going out to market for a formal benchmarking study.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So you changed your mind.  Why?

MS. POWELL:  Doing a formal benchmarking study is fairly costly.

We have access, as I said previously, that we do participate in a number of national surveys.  So we felt that the results from those surveys provided us with adequate benchmarking data.

And we also have access to all of the collective agreements amongst our competitors.  Or not competitors, but other unions, where we compare ourselves to.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I am going to come back to the first part of the question.

But you have access to the collective agreements for other LDCs?

MS. POWELL:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Through what vehicle?

MS. POWELL:  Well, the ones that are public.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Anyway, back to the first part of the question.  You had decided to do a benchmarking study; right?  You already said so.

MS. POWELL:  Originally, I think the proposed plan was that every three years we were going to participate and have a formal benchmarking study, but then we decided when we reassessed that we didn't really actually need to do that every three years.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So when you answered the interrogatories in, what, December, you said:  We're going to do a study in 2011.  So what happened to change that?

MS. POWELL:  Well, I guess it wasn't really that we were definitely going to do it.  It was just that we thought we may.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So when you say that you anticipate undertaking a study, that doesn't mean you are going to do it; you are just thinking about it?

MS. POWELL:  That's right.

MR. SHEPHERD:  In Schools No. 17, you were asked about the tree service contract.  And we gave you -- I apologize -- an incorrect reference.  It should have been R1-11-9.

So can you help us with what the current status is of the tree service contract?

MR. LABRICCIOSA:  We have yet to sign a contract with the successful party to undertake those services, so it is unfair to comment on the specifics of that contract if it hasn't been signed yet.

MR. SHEPHERD:  What is the -– what is your prognosis for when that will be done?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. LABRICCIOSA:  We think we will be done in February.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.  I am going to Schools No. 18.  This is following up on the same thing we were talking about, the CDM volumes, but it is a different question now, because you made a LRAM claim for 2007; right?

MR. SEAL:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I assume that because 2008 was based –- 2008, subsequently, is now -- your load is based on a new cost of service, that there won't be an LRAM claim for 2008, '09 or '10; is that right?

MR. SEAL:  We are actually in the process of putting together an application for the 2008 and 2009.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  But then doesn't that mean that you have claimed or you will have claimed CDM volumes for those years?

MR. SEAL:  In the answer to the question, I wasn't sure what you meant by "claimed" and we have not made a claim yet for those volumes, but we will.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Can you tell us what they are?

MR. SEAL:  I don't know what they are right now.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Those LRAM volumes, they're calculated to a new benchmark now; right?  Because you have a new load forecast in 2008, so that would be your new baseline?

MR. SEAL:  The LRAM is calculated -- it is the actual CDM against forecast CDM.  It's in rates.

So to the extent that the 2008 and 2009 load forecast included some CDM, then that would include –- that's the benchmark.  You're right.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I thought you told us earlier you can't include CDM in your load forecast.

MR. SEAL:  I said what we did for this particular load forecast, that we have not –-

MR. LABRICCIOSA:  And if I can add to Mr. Seal's comments, we introduced the trend variable for the first time in 2010, in our 2010 load forecast, and have continued with that model for 2011.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So does that mean that you then can't claim for LRAM anymore, because you don't have a CDM baseline?

MR. SEAL:  No.  I don't think it means that.  It just means that the way we might have to determine it is different.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, but our questions about CDM impact on the load forecast were questions about -- would be basically questions about what your baseline is, what is your CDM baseline.

And you said you can't answer that, because it is all built into the trend.

MR. SEAL:  That's true.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So how are you going to claim LRAM, then?

MR. SEAL:  I don't have an application yet for 2010, but if we do determine that we can find some way to do it, then we might do that, we might have that claim.

But right now, I don't.

MS. SEBALJ:  Jay, it is 3:00 o'clock.  I am wondering if it is a good time to take a break.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You have questions too?

MS. SEBALJ:  Some of them have been addressed by you, but I think we have 20 minutes, something like that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I have about 15 or 20 minutes, so if you want to take a break now, that is fine.  Or if you don't want to take a break, that is also fine.

MS. SEBALJ:  I think we should, and I think Ken wants to say a couple of things off the record.  So why don't we go off the record?  And Ken can address, and after Ken is done, take a 15-minute break.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.

--- Recess taken at 3:03 p.m.

--- On resuming at 3:25 p.m.

MS. SEBALJ:  Jay, I think you are up.  We are on.

MR. SEAL:  While you push the button, Jay, I believe I had indicated to Jack earlier today that I would come back with some information, so -- with respect to the RSVA power accounts.  So I did check back at the shop.

And in May of 2010, so for our 2010 rate year, the Board approved an amount of a $265,000 credit to customers for the RSVA power non-global adjustment part, cleared, which was reflective of the December 2008 balance exclusive of interest.

So I think that was the information that I said I would provide.

MS. SEBALJ:  Okay.  I also understand just at the break, I can't remember who it is from Toronto Hydro, indicated that the table that you had been asking for, Jay, that had the breakdown of the vehicles is not in the evidence.  So that needs to be marked as an undertaking.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's right.  This is the table for 2011 that is the same as the tables for 2007 through 2010 in SEC No. -- technical conference question number 3.  So if we can get the equivalent table for 2011, that would be good.

MS. SEBALJ:  That we will now mark as JT1.11.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.11:  TO PROVIDE EQUIVALENT TABLE FOR 2011 AS APPEARS IN SEC TECHNICAL CONFERENCE QUESTION No. 3.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So I don't have that many more questions, but I do have a few.

I am looking at SEC No. 4, technical conference question No. 4, and your response to it.

This talks about the organizational effectiveness department or group, or whatever it is.  It's a department; right?

MS. POWELL:  Division.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Division, okay.  And we weren't able to track year to year based on the answer.  So I wonder if you could do this.  I wonder if you could take the $15.2 million budget for 2011 -- which is what you expect to spend in 2011; right?

MS. POWELL:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Break it down into whatever the appropriate components are, and then identify where -- and you have them already in the evidence, and then identify for 2008 and 2009 where those things were and how much they cost.

MS. POWELL:  Well, some of the things are new, so they won't have --


MR. SHEPHERD:  That's fine.  If they're new, they're new.  We are just trying to get an apples-to-apples comparison.  How much of this is increase and how much of it is reallocation?  The easiest way to do that is to see:  Where was it before, and how much was it before?  So can you do that?

MS. POWELL:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Good.  Thank you.

MS. SEBALJ:  That is JT1.12.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.12:  TO PROVIDE EQUIVALENT TABLE FOR 2008 AND 2009 AS PER SEC TECHNICAL CONFERENCE QUESTION NO. 4.

MR. SHEPHERD:  The next one is School Energy Coalition No. 13.  In 13, we asked a number of things, and I think that we included too many questions in the same question.  And that is -- so what happened was that the last sentence was missed.

The last sentence we asked, well, you had a 2007 plan.  You had a 2010 plan.  What were your 2008 and 2009 capital plans?  Can you provide those numbers, please?

MR. HJARTARSON:  Can I just clarify the question?  Are you asking about ten-year plans that were developed in these years?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, or changes to the 2007 plan.  At any given point in time, you have a snapshot of what is your current plan; right?

MR. HJARTARSON:  Mm-hm.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you had one for 2007.

MR. HJARTARSON:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Then the next formal one you had was 2010.  I understand that.  But in 2008 and 2009, you had some plan.

MR. HJARTARSON:  Yes.  We were -- we did a rate filing for two years, and we worked towards two years later to have another plan ready.  So we did not have an official document in those years.

MR. SHEPHERD:  No.  But you still had a plan for what you were going to spend.  You had your 2007 plan, if you like --


MR. HJARTARSON:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  -- I am guessing, with modifications that you already knew you were going to make; right?

MR. HJARTARSON:  Mm-hm, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you had some sort of internal document that told you, okay, right now this is our plan in 2008.  This is our plan for the next ten years.

MR. HJARTARSON:  Yes.  That was the one we submitted in 2007.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I am asking now, a year later.

MR. HJARTARSON:  Yes.  We did not develop another plan.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You didn't?

MR. HJARTARSON:  No.  2009 we developed another plan for the 2010 rate filing.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So between 2007 and 2010, you were still operating under the 2007 plan?

MR. HJARTARSON:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, thanks.

Now I am going to School's No. 19.  I have a number of questions about this.  This is concerning the storage pilot -- this is a pilot project, right, the battery storage thing?

MR. HJARTARSON:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And so the first thing is, in number 2 in your answer, it sounds like you are saying that you are not recording the losses in the battery system separately.  You are just treating them as if they're part of distribution losses.  Am I reading that wrong?

MR. HJARTARSON:  No.  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So when you have any type of storage cycle, you have losses going in and going out; right?  Sometimes they're conversion losses when you are going from electrical to mechanical, or whatever, and sometimes they're just efficiency losses, because, as you put electricity into storage, you lose some of it; right?

MR. HJARTARSON:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  As you pump it out, you lose some more of it; right?

MR. HJARTARSON:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Do I understand you are not going to record those losses that are part of the system as losses within that system?

MR. HJARTARSON:  No.  You are looking at -- in terms of that system itself, we may do that.  We haven't decided that yet.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I guess I would have thought that when you are doing a pilot project, one of the things you want to know is:  How much are we losing on conversion, how much we are losing on efficiency --


MR. HJARTARSON:  Absolutely.  However, this is --


MR. SHEPHERD:  -- on each cycle, we're losing something; right?  What is it?

MR. HJARTARSON:  Yes.  At the same time, this is a known technology, so we would go into it knowing approximately what those losses would be.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, don't the losses depend on your operational regime?  If you cycle it more often, you will have more losses or less losses, and so on?

MR. HJARTARSON:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you have some assumptions, though, of what your losses will be, but one of the reasons you have a pilot project is to learn in the real world what really happens; right?

MR. HJARTARSON:  Absolutely.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And so you will be recording somewhere separately what those losses in and out -- those cycling losses are; right?

MR. HJARTARSON:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So when you said that they were part of distribution system losses, then how does that work?  If they're part of the storage system, which is unregulated -- right?  It is unregulated.  Why would they be part of distribution system losses?  I don't understand.

MR. HJARTARSON:  I believe we have not said that storage is unregulated.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, okay.  All right.  So they're only part of distribution system losses if it is a regulated asset.  If it is an unregulated asset, then somehow you have to divide that up; right?

MR. HJARTARSON:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Then the last question about that is you have indicated here that the change to the timing is negligible.  I suppose I was a little bit taken aback by that, because I sort of thought that was the whole point of this, or at least part of the point, was to deliver power when it was needed, rather than when you had it available.

MR. HJARTARSON:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So then isn't that -- why is the timing shift negligible?  Just because it is a small project?

MR. HJARTARSON:  Just a moment.

[Witness panel confers]


MR. HJARTARSON:  Where does it say that in the answer?

MR. SHEPHERD: "Acts to only negligibly change the
timing of energy inputs versus outputs in the system."

MR. HJARTARSON:  It is very small compared to the overall system.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So it is just because it is a small project?

MR. HJARTARSON:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It is not because it won't, for its size, have a good impact?

MR. HJARTARSON:  No, no.  In terms of the overall system.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, okay.  I get it.

Looking at School's No. 21 in which you said THESL will provide a thorough update at the technical conference, please do.

MR. COUILLARD:  Sorry, am I on?  I'm on.  Here we go.

We have -- are in the process of completing our depreciation study that was done in connection with the activities that we worked on on IFRS, and I think we will have thorough discussion in regards to that study, which has not been completely finalized.  I want it to be reviewed by our external auditors, as well, as part of the ADR process.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So, okay –-

MR. COUILLARD:  And its impact, Mr. Shepherd.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So help me with this.  The study is done, but you are having your auditors look at it?

MR. COUILLARD:  Well, we want to make sure that, you know, it is in line if we were to make those changes.  I mean, the study touches more than just depreciation.

There is capitalization policy.  There is a lot of work that was done under IFRS, looking at applicability under Canadian GAAP.

MR. SHEPHERD:  This includes things like group depreciation and the impact of going to more granular depreciation, that sort of thing?

MR. COUILLARD:  If you look at the only the asset depreciation study in itself, look at mainly the life of the assets.  So should the life be -- should it be longer or should it be shorter.  So that is what the depreciation study is all about.  But there is a whole slew of other things that we undertook under IFRS, our IFRS projects, that provide significant change in some of the estimates that we have.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So it is the -- the asset lives' component of the study is like a conventional depreciation study; right?

MR. COUILLARD:  Yeah.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And that is done?

MR. COUILLARD:  Pretty much, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So can we see it, then?

MR. COUILLARD:  Not at this moment.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Why not?

MR. COUILLARD:  Because I am not ready to release it until I have my auditors look at it.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I thought it was because of the IFRS things that the auditors had to look at it.

MR. COUILLARD:  Yes.  But the auditors also have to agree if I can use the change in depreciation in comparison to the accounting handbook provided by the OEB.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So when can we see it?

MR. COUILLARD:  I can't give a definitive answer on that, but definitely as part of the process of ADR, there will be some discussion about it because it has a significant impact, along with other things that we have on the application.

It would be part of the opening statements that we would make tomorrow.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, no, but I am asking for evidence on the record here.  So you are saying you will provide it to us, but not on the record?

MR. COUILLARD:  No.  It would be provided at one point on the record, probably towards the hearing, like when I am completely comfortable with it.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So we're talking weeks.  We're not talking about May.  We're talking --


MR. COUILLARD:  No, no, absolutely not.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And can you tell us whether the impact is to increase or decrease the amount of depreciation in the test year?

MR. COUILLARD:  I can't for now.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Because you don't know, or because you don't want to tell us?

MR. COUILLARD:  Because I am not ready to share the information that is included in the study.  If I was ready to share the study, I would put it out there.  Right now, I'm not.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Next question is School's No. 22, and this is one where you are asked about the dividend policy.

And I -- we had actually thought that the dividend policy that had been directed by the shareholder was that you were supposed to dividend the greater of 50 percent of profit and $25 million; is that not the policy anymore?

MR. COUILLARD:  Not with THESL.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But it is the city's policy.  That is what they want?

MR. COUILLARD:  There is no policy for dividend between the city and THESL, because the city does not own THESL.  The city owns Toronto Hydro Corporation.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So when you were asked about the dividend policy with the City of Toronto, instead of saying:  Well, we don't pay dividends to the City of Toronto.  You said there isn't one.

But really there is one, it is just not --


MR. COUILLARD:  Between THESL and the City.  It is between the City and THC, Mr. Shepherd.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And that policy, which is set out in the S&P ratings and a number of other places, is the greater 50 percent of profit and $25 million; right?

MR. COUILLARD:  That is correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  In SEC No. 23, you indicate that in addition to this application, you will also be making an application this year for additional smart meter costs; is that right?

MR. SARDANA:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And that will involve a rate increase?

MR. SARDANA:  Well, we don't know yet.  We haven't done the analysis fully.  But we -- I would think that on the face of it, it should, because we're trying to clear the '08, '09 and '10 smart meter spend.

And of course, as you know, we have been collecting the 68-cent rate rider, but -- so we haven't done the revenue requirement consequence of closing those assets to rate base yet.  But --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Your current expectation is the ratepayers are going to owe you some money?

MR. SARDANA:  Sorry, Jay, we just don't have that view just yet.  But we will have that application in shortly.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You are also filing, or you have filed -- have you filed it yet or you're about to file your CDM plan, which also includes rate implications?  Is that right?

MR. SARDANA:  The CDM plan has been filed.  But I don't believe -- I am looking to Mr. Winn -- I don't think it has any rate implications in there.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It doesn't have implications on distribution rates; right?  Because it's --


MR. SARDANA:  That's right, I don't believe so.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It is socialized.  But you do have a plan to ask the ratepayers to pay you some money?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. SARDANA:  I think it is paid through the global adjustment.  I don't think it's -- we are not asking -- I don't believe we are asking --


MR. SEAL:  Not in rates.

MR. SARDANA:  Not in rates, no.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So who pays the global adjustment?

MR. SARDANA:  All ratepayers do.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So the point is you are going to make another application.  You will ask for some more money from the ratepayers, and then that –-

MR. SARDANA:  I was making –- sorry.  Yes, Jay.  I was making a distinction between THESL ratepayers and provincial, all ratepayers.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Are there any other applications you are expecting this year that will involve increases in the amounts that ratepayers have to pay?  Aside from smart meters and CDM?

MR. SARDANA:  I can't comment on the second half of your question about the impacts on rates.

We are contemplating filing other applications, yes, because there are a host of things that we need to, quote/unquote, "clean up."

So one of them is the street lighting valuation that we were asked to undertake, which is now substantially completed and the application is in the process of being drafted.  The --


MR. SHEPHERD:  That doesn't involve asking the ratepayers to give you any more money?

MR. SARDANA:  It will impact one class or two classes, the street lighting class and USL class, we believe.  Well, it is okay for you.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It's okay for us.  Maybe they're less happy.

MR. SARDANA:  Then, I think as Mr. Seal mentioned earlier, we are likely going to contemplate an LRAM SSM or LRAM application for '08 and '09, and perhaps '10 –- no, for '08 and '09.  So the street lighting.  There is the LRAM --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Let me stop you for a second.  LRAM SSM might be 2010?

MR. SARDANA:  No, 2008 and '09.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And you just said perhaps 2010?

MR. SARDANA:  No.  I misspoke.  Darryl corrected me.  What else do we have?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Is there anything else that you know of?

MR. SARDANA:  Not at this point, no.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Thanks.  Have you done at any point an analysis of the overall impact of your applications on ratepayers, this year's applications?

MR. SARDANA:  Yes, we have.  It is part of our filing.

MR. SEAL:  Do you mean the applications we were just mentioning?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

MR. SEAL:  Oh, no.  No.  We don't know the numbers yet.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Next question is with respect to School Energy Coalition No. 25.  We gave you a wrong reference.  We asked you about Board Staff No. 28, and we really meant Board Staff No. 18.

This is about -- I am just getting it up here, if I can find it -- this is about contact voltage costs.  You were asked whether you had comparative costing data.

I am looking for it now.  Yes, in number (c), you basically have one source for this service; right?  This one company has the technology; right?

MR. HJARTARSON:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And so you sort of have to pay whatever they tell you; right?

MR. HJARTARSON:  We ask for an offer from them and look at that, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And so we –- or Board Staff asked, so did you get costing data from other utilities so that you could -- I guess so that you could figure out whether what you were being asked to pay was comparable to other utilities?  Did you?

MR. HJARTARSON:  No, we did not.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And so you were asked in School Energy Coalition No. 25:  What actions did you take to try to get comparative costing data?

MR. HJARTARSON:  We have reached out to other utilities, such as in the United States, but we have not received any cost comparisons.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you don't know whether the amount you are paying is fair or not?

MR. HJARTARSON:  We think it is fair.

MR. SHEPHERD:  No, but do you have a basis for that?

MR. HJARTARSON:  In terms of the results that we get out of it, yes, the number of trucks, the number of people and the amount of work being done.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So have you done some sort of analysis as to how much it should cost?

MR. HJARTARSON:  As compared to other services where trucks and people are involved, yes, not as a formal study, but we have compared that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Can we see that comparison, then?

MR. HJARTARSON:  Don't have it.  We looked at it.  We don't have it as a document.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you sort of ball-parked it.  You said, We do a bunch of things with a bunch of trucks and people, and we sort of know, if you have so many trucks and so many people, how much it is supposed to cost?

MR. COUILLARD:  Mr. Shepherd, we believe that the costs that are being charged to us is fair.  We have done some internal discussion and analysis.  That is all of the evidence we have.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So you did some analysis?

MR. COUILLARD:  We had discussion internally on those costs, and we concluded that the costs that we were being charged were fair and reasonable.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So nobody did a spreadsheet or comparison?

MR. COUILLARD:  No, no.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Then the next one is School Energy Coalition No. 26.

MR. SARDANA:  Mr. Shepherd, if I can just interrupt, your previous question to us about applications, you had mentioned if -- you had asked if we knew of any others.

I should mention, just to clarify the record, there is also a generic proceeding on late payment penalties that is undergoing -- that has been going on for some time now.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Of course.  What is your share of that?

MR. SEAL:  It is approximately 7 million.

MR. SARDANA:  It is 7-plus million.  So there is that application process, as well.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

MR. SEAL:  The numbers for that -- sorry, the numbers for that were filed as part of this application.  The actual 7 million makes up part of the rate riders for this application.  We filed this application prior to that hearing being set.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes, okay.  School Energy Coalition No. 26 asks about exchange rates, and, in particular, we were asking about the contract voltage contract, because that is all in US dollars; right?

MR. HJARTARSON:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And you made an assumption that you are going to have to pay 10 percent extra for US dollars as compared to Canadian dollars; right?

MR. HJARTARSON:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So given current estimates of exchange rates, is it fair to say that that is now high?

MR. HJARTARSON:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And so should we change that to -- I don't know.  Reduce it by 10 percent?

MR. COUILLARD:  I mean, you know, we're -- exchange rate, if you look at past, you know, prediction and everything, that is our best estimate right now.  We don't believe that the differences -- you know, we don't know if it is going to materialize or not, and at this time we are not ready to change our application.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So your current expectation is still that the exchange rate in 2011 will be 10 percent?

MR. COUILLARD:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I am looking at VECC No. 2, technical conference number 2.  This is talking about unfilled vacancies and your updated hiring plan.

My simple question here is I am not sure whether I understand the answer correctly, and I want to make sure I do.  You are assuming that to the extent that you didn't fill vacancies in 2010 as expected, that you will fill all of them, plus the 2011 vacancies, in 2011; is that right?

MS. POWELL:  That is the plan.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So your expectation is that you will have zero unfilled vacancies at the end of 2011?

MS. POWELL:  That is the plan, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  When was the last year you had zero unfilled vacancies at the end of the year?

MS. POWELL:  I don't recall.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Is it true that, in the records you have, you never have?

MR. COUILLARD:  We would have to look at the records, because there is plus and minus in different departments, Mr. Shepherd.  So it is possible.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, thanks.  I don't need an undertaking.

And then I am looking at VECC No. 12, and this is asking about your evidence which talks about the various influences on the capital budget, and one of the influences that you said in your evidence was applied was your concern for rate shock to the customer.

And then in your -- so you were asked, Well, what is the impact?  And your answer was the overall plan would not change materially, excluding rate shock considerations.

So I didn't understand that.  Does that mean that the rate shock had no influence on your plan?

MR. HJARTARSON:  Very limited, in terms of compared to the other factors mentioned in the answer.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Was it millions of dollars, or was it small enough it doesn't meet your materiality threshold?

MR. HJARTARSON:  On a year-to-year basis, it wouldn't change things.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Wonderful.  Anything else?

That is all of my questions.  Thanks a lot.
Questions by Ms. Armstrong:

MS. ARMSTRONG:  Board Staff Question No. 5, S1, tab 1, schedule 5, I would like to go back to the trend variable.

I know we have talked about it a bit today, but could you just walk me through how you came up with the trend variable, what went into the thinking, and sort of how you determined the economic impact, the CDM impact?

MR. SEAL:  Okay.  I will start with the end.  As we mentioned in the responses, we have not broken it down into an economic impact or a CDM impact.  We have not tried to do that at all.

What we tried to do was come up with an explanatory variable for our load models that explained load, explained load well and forecasted load well.  That was the objective and the objective of the load forecast.

For the trend variable, what we believe is that it is capturing the impacts of CDM.  It is capturing the impacts of general conservation trends, aside from CDM programs.  It is capturing the impact of economic variables.  And the statistics of the model bear out that it is a good variable in the model.

The methodology that we developed -- in developing the trend variables, as we explained in the evidence, was looking at the load trends and estimating the model with various types of trend variables.

So we would visually inspect the load shapes over the years, determine where we thought there was a break point and test various trend variables, generally, linear trend variables.  So they're very simple, one, two, three, four five, and they're intended to capture a trend.

So the process, again, was not to try and come up with a proportion of CDM that it is capturing or proportion of economics, but simply to get a good load forecasting model, which is the objective of the load forecast.

MS. ARMSTRONG:  Okay.  In terms of the CDM targets, you said that there might be a possibility that you are going to come back for an LRAM application later on for 2010-2011 when the trend variable captured the CDM reductions in the load.  Is that correct?

MR. SEAL:  I said we -- possibly, yes.

MS. ARMSTRONG:  If you possibly would do that, can you tell me how you possibly would establish the base line?

MR. SEAL:  No, I can't right now.  If we do come with an LRAM application with a specific amount requested, then obviously to do that I will have to have some way of determining how much of it is CDM.  Right now, I do not.

MS. ARMSTRONG:  Any thinking?

MR. SEAL:  No.

MS. ARMSTRONG:  Okay, thanks.  Next question, Board Staff No. 8, S1, tab 1, schedule 8.  We have asked for some explanations of the breakdown.  There were a number of them where -- like, down on contingency, where you told us the scope of the activity has been reduced, we sort of deducted that by the decline in the amounts.

What I don't get from the answer is why it has been reduced.

MR. HJARTARSON:  The downtown contingency, as is in the rate filing, what we would be looking at there is various challenges in terms of design and plan.  So some part of that has been delayed from earlier plans.

MS. ARMSTRONG:  And the external initiated plan, same thing:  Why was that reduced?

MR. HJARTARSON:  This is to do with Transit City; that was previously in an externally initiated plan.

MS. ARMSTRONG:  Thank you.  No. 12, S1, tab 1, schedule 12, again, we have been over this before.  I would -- in your last sentence, you say:

"A full continuity schedule cannot be provided in time available to respond to this interrogatory."

When would you be able to provide that?

MR. JAMAL:  The continuity schedule for 2010?

MS. ARMSTRONG:  In 2011.

MR. JAMAL:  Sorry, can you help me with the line number?

MS. ARMSTRONG:  This is the last sentence of this interrogatory.  It's on the second page.

MR. JAMAL:  That is --


MS. ARMSTRONG:  Line one, two --


MR. JAMAL:  Schedule 12?

MS. ARMSTRONG:  Schedule 12.

MR. JAMAL:  I think, yeah, the delay was due to the fact that we didn't have a 2010 completed fixed-asset schedule.  So we should be able to have that once the audit is completed.

MS. ARMSTRONG:  And when would that be?

MR. JAMAL:  That will be in a couple -– in a few weeks.

MR. HJARTARSON:  March.

MR. JAMAL:  At the end of February, early March.

MS. ARMSTRONG:  So you confirm that we won't have a continuity schedule, an updated one, prior to an oral hearing?

MR. COUILLARD:  That's correct.

MS. ARMSTRONG:  In Board Staff No. 17, you stated that:

“Capital contributions are put into rate base the year they are made, rather than the year when the asset is used and useful."

Can you confirm that this is a treatment that has been applied in previous years?

MR. JAMAL:  I believe it has.

MS. ARMSTRONG:  Can you be sure of that?

MR. JAMAL:  No.  I will have to double-check the prior years.

MS. ARMSTRONG:  If you could come back with a clear answer on that.

MS. SEBALJ:  We will mark it as JT1.13.

So this is related to Board Staff Question No. 17, and confirming whether or not the capital contributions have been put into rate base prior to the asset being used and useful in prior rate years.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.13:  RE: BOARD STAFF INTERROGATORY NO. 17, TO CONFIRM WHETHER CAPITAL CONTRIBUTIONS HAVE BEEN PUT INTO RATE BASE PRIOR TO THE ASSET BEING USED AND USEFUL IN PRIOR RATE YEARS.

MS. ARMSTRONG:  And then Question No. 23, S1, tab 1, schedule 23, the smart meter assets that are included in this application, I just had some follow-up questions.

Can you tell me what meters they are?  Are they commercial meters?  Are they three-phase?  One phase?

MR. COUILLARD:  They're a mix of all of the different ones.  There is commercial and there is residential meters.

MS. ARMSTRONG:  Okay.  Could you provide us with a little bit more detail than you have given us in terms of what meters they are, how many are commercial, how many are residential?  Could you break out the per-meter cost, as per the different meters?  And also, is it possible to come back and provide us with the OM&A costs per meters?

MR. COUILLARD:  We will do our best to provide -- if we do a detailed undertaking, we will look.  If we have those, we will provide them.

MS. ARMSTRONG:  Okay.  Thank you.

MS. SEBALJ:  That is JT1.14.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.14:  RE: BOARD STAFF INTERROGATORY NO. 23 (B), TO PROVIDE BREAKDOWN OF AVERAGE COST OF $360 PER METER INTO THE DIFFERENT TYPES OF METERS, ; TO EXPLAIN IF THEY ARE THREE-PHASE OR ONE-PHASE METERS; TO EXPLAIN PRICE DIFFERENCES AND OM&A COSTS.

MR. COUILLARD:  I think we have to make sure the interrogatory is clear, because there was a lot of things that were asked.  I want to make sure we have all of the different components.

MS. SEBALJ:  With reference to Board Staff Question No. 23, and specifically 23, sub (b), there is a reference there to an average cost of $360 per meter.

And I believe the undertaking is to break that down into the different types of meters.  You have mentioned commercial, residential, but if there are any other types, the costing per meter.

MS. ARMSTRONG:  Costing per meter.  I would like to know if it they're three-phase meters, one-phases meters, and to explain price differences, and then the OM&A costs.

MR. COUILLARD:  Fine.
Questions by Mr. Davies:


MR. DAVIES:  I just have a couple.  The first one is Board Staff 9.  This interrogatory relates to THESL's regulatory costs and the breakdown which was provided.

You had filed a revised response to this interrogatory on December 20th, 2010, which showed a revised amount for this category of 1,326,778, and the explanation that:

"The revised highlighted cells now include payroll costs for regulatory applications and compliance and regulatory policy in relation to staff only."

The question was to:

"Provide a more detailed explanation for this change, including why this amount had increased significantly relative to the December 6th response."

In response to that, you said that the original figure of $350,000 was an estimate of costs for all THESL staff, excluding regulatory staff that are engaged in the preparation of rate applications and other supplementary applications.

The question is:  Could you just clarify the relationship between the 1,326,778 and the 350?  Specifically, is the 350 part of the 1.3 million?  Or is it separate from it?  Or was it just a mistake, the original number?

MR. SARDANA:  Martin, we will have to take an undertaking, because we don't have those numbers in front of us.

MR. RODGER:  Actually, I think Mr. Winn says he could address that.

MR. SARDANA:  Do you have that?

MR. WINN:  The original number was an estimate of the labour costs for other staff outside of those two departments, applications and regulatory affairs, that participate in the development of applications and supplementary applications.

What was omitted in that number was the actual payroll costs of the two departments that are engaged in this activity all the time.

That is when this answer was corrected.  That's what we meant when we said inadvertently omitted those two departments.  So that figure there now includes the costs for the two departments that are engaged in this activity, plus our estimate of the involvement of other staff throughout the organization that participate in the development of applications.

MR. DAVIES:  Okay.  So the 350 is included in the 1.3 million?

MR. WINN:  Yes.

Mr. Davies:  Okay.  The other question I had relates to Board Staff No. 20, and that one asked for a breakdown of the IFRS costs contained in account 1508.  And it referenced Exhibit J1, tab 1, schedule 2, appendix A, which provided a breakdown.

And I believe that the number in that original appendix was around $7.2 million.  And I just wasn't clear from the answer that you gave, referring to Board Staff Interrogatory 89, where there would be a breakdown of the $7.2 million.

Could you just clarify exactly what -- where we would get a breakdown of the 7.2 million in that response?

MR. COUILLARD:  We will take an undertaking, Mr. Davies.

MS. SEBALJ:  We will mark it as JT1.15.  It relates to Board staff question no. 20, and it is a breakdown of the approximately $7.2 million for IFRS costs in account 1508.

MR. DAVIES:  Yes, including the more detailed breakdown and explanation that was referenced in the question.

UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.15:  TO PROVIDE BREAKDOWN AND EXPLANATION FOR THE APPROXIMATELY $7.2 MILLION FOR IFRS COSTS IN ACCOUNT 1508, BOARD STAFF QUESTION NO. 20.

MR. DAVIES:  That's it for me.  Vince?
Questions by Mr. Cooney:

MR. COONEY:  Good afternoon, Panel.  Vince Cooney from Board Staff.  I just have one question with respect to Board Staff number 18.  That is Exhibit S1, tab 1, schedule 18.

You provided a response stating that the $1.1 million cost listed as the energy storage project in the above table is related to IT program costs as discussed in Board Staff 73.

I was okay until there, and then there is a further statement that the IT component of the project is budgeted to be $100,000.

Can you make sense of the 1.1 versus the $100,000?

MR. HJARTARSON:  This energy storage smart grid project, this is not related to the other one we talked about earlier.

This part of this is 1.1 million.  Off of that is 100,000 for IT costs.

MR. COONEY:  Okay.  So is it simply just -- does this also include the electric vehicles portion of IT and the active demand response programs?  Is that included there, or...

I am just trying to figure out how the total of 1.1 million gets there.

MR. HJARTARSON:  I will take an undertaking on this to take a look at that.

MR. COONEY:  Okay, thanks.

MS. SEBALJ:  So we are at JT1.16.  It is Board Staff question no. 18, and you are going to have to correct me, Vince, if I get this wrong, but we are trying to understand the 1.1 million energy storage project.  So there is the $1.1 million number, and then there is the $100,000 that is in the answer that refers to IT program costs.

And so I guess we're just trying to understand what this IT program costs.

MR. COONEY:  There is nothing with respect to the actual energy storage project that is in 2012, the $30 million 4-megawatt energy storage project.

MR. HJARTARSON:  This is not related to that project.

MR. COONEY:  It is not at all?

MR. HJARTARSON:  This is looking at other opportunities for energy storage in terms of smart grid.  It is not related to that project, at all.

MR. COONEY:  It is strictly an IT enabled -- I think IT enabled portfolios?  It is that group?

MR. HJARTARSON:  It is IT part of the studies and potential small-scale pilots for other types of energy storage that we are looking at.

MR. COONEY:  All right, thank you.

MR. HJARTARSON:  Would that be sufficient?

MS. SEBALJ:  Can I just -- sorry, can I just follow up on that?  So the total cost of this particular project is $1.1 million.  That's the energy storage project.

It is a demonstration project for new advances in technology, including state-of-the-art lithium-ion and lithium-polymer battery systems?

MR. HJARTARSON:  That's correct.

MS. SEBALJ:  Of that 1.1 million, in your answer (b), it indicates that $100,000 is the IT component of this project.

MR. HJARTARSON:  That's right.

MS. SEBALJ:  So is that sufficient, Vince, for our purposes, that -- we wanted to know what the IT component of the 1.1 million --


MR. COONEY:  I think that is okay.  I think we're okay.

MS. SEBALJ:  Okay.  Jay has a question.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Can I just follow up on that?  This lithium-ion and lithium-polymer demonstration project, is this like a back-up power or an uninterrupted power supply sort of concept?

MR. HJARTARSON:  It could be.  It is really -- we are looking at possibilities there and doing studies on what could be done, and more to learn about how that would tie into the smart grid.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You are not talking about using it to shift load.  The thing you are exploring is whether, for example, it can replace diesel back-up generators and stuff like that?

MR. HJARTARSON:  That could be one application of it.

We could be simply having it out in the system.  It could be various applications.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.

MR. COONEY:  That is all of the questions for me.  Thanks.

MS. SEBALJ:  That is it for Board Staff.  Is there anything else?  Yes, Michael.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Well, I had one question that was pending.

MR. COUILLARD:  Yes.  Sorry, Mr. Buonaguro.  And, yes, I do know the answer, actually.

It was based on the most recent forecast, what we're estimating our year end number to be.  On a payroll basis, we usually can have a pretty good idea, because it is fairly linear.  So the numbers that we have provided you are what our 2010, pending any potential audit adjustment actuals, are going to be.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So it is based on --


MR. COUILLARD:  Actuals of the entire year, 12 months.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay, thank you.

MS. ARMSTRONG:  I just have one more.

School's question no. 13, you indicate that you were looking for a categorical inclusion of the energy storage project, but also the Bremner station deemed distribution application.

I am not quite sure if this application is supposed to be considered as an application to have the station deemed a distribution asset, or are you planning to come in with an application?  I wasn't quite sure what you meant by that.

MR. SARDANA:  To be perfectly honest, we had some discussions with Board Staff about this, and I think where we left it was that we would have to bring it -- we would have to start the discussion with Board Panel and intervenors as part of this application.  Whether it then leads to a separate application to have this asset declared -- deemed a distribution asset remains to be seen.

But we need the certainty for the asset, and so we have to engage the project now.  So we are -- I guess what I'm saying is we are in Board's hands and intervenors' hands, and of course it will come out in discussions, as to what the process will be.

MS. ARMSTRONG:  Okay.  So we are not considering this as the application, but we are sort of thinking about it?

MR. SARDANA:  Yes.  I think that would be a correct characterization.

MS. ARMSTRONG:  Okay, thanks.

MR. SHEPHERD:  What I understood you to say, Pankaj, and tell me whether this is right, is you are asking for it to be approved as a distribution asset, but you understand that you may not be able to get that in this application.  You are asking for it in this application, but if you don't get it, then you want to figure out what the process is to get it?

MR. SARDANA:  I think we are almost there.  No, I think what we are saying is we don't know what the process is just yet.

I think what Board Staff have told us is that there are examples.  There are precedents that have been set for these kinds of situations.  For example, the one site, it was Hydro Ottawa, where there was a transformer station that they built that was deemed a distribution asset.  This is almost exactly akin to that, and that was part of an application that they did, a rate application.  So...

MR. SHEPHERD:  It was closing to rate base in the same year; right?

MR. SARDANA:  Well, yes.  I mean, that is -- how we close it to rate base, obviously we will follow the regular processes to do that.  But we need certainty in the first instance that this transformer station, when it is built, will be deemed a distribution asset.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I am not disagreeing on that.  I am trying to understand whether you are asking for approval in this proceeding.  Is it on the list of approvals in this proceeding or not?  Because I thought it was.


MR. SARDANA:  Well, that is what we would like, yes --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.

MR. SARDANA:  -- in short order, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.

MS. SEBALJ:  So if there are no other questions, I guess -- I don't know if we want to talk now about undertakings or they will just be provided as they become available, Mark?

MR. RODGER:  Why don't I report back to everybody once we get a sense of how long they will take to prepare?

MS. SEBALJ:  I assume we will see you at 9:30 tomorrow morning, so we will get a report then.

MR. RODGER:  Yes.

MS. SEBALJ:  Is there anything else?

MR. CROCKER:  Are we in here to start tomorrow?

MS. SEBALJ:  We unfortunately are in here tomorrow morning.  I know, not my choice either.

MR. DAVIES:  We will see if there is any possibility of changing it, but as of now we are in here.

MS. SEBALJ:  Thanks, everyone, and we will see you tomorrow at 9:30.

--- Whereupon the proceedings adjourned at 4:13 p.m.
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